MSc in Health Economics, Policy and Law Institute of Health Policy and Management Erasmus University Rotterdam

# **Master Thesis**

Dementia Caregiving: the construct validity of the CarerQol instrument to measure the impact of informal care among caregivers of dementia patients.

Name: Krystallia Pantiri Student number: 355495 Supervisor: Renske Hoefman Co-evaluators: Marieke Krol, Elly Stolk

# **Table of Contents**

	3
Introduction	4
Informal care	4
Dementia caregiving	6
Informal care in economic evaluations	7
The CarerQol instrument	10
Study objectives and hypothesis	13
Methods	16
Population/ data	16
Measures/Questionnaires	16
Statistical analysis	18
Convergent validity	18
	20
Results	22
Characteristics of caregivers, care recipients and care situations	22
CarerQol-7D	26
Convergent validity	26
Subjective burden measures on the basis of CarerQol- 7D	27
Subgroups	28
Clinical validity	29
CarerQol-VAS score	29
CarerQol-7D sum score	30
Discussion	32
Convergent validity	33
Clinical validity	35
Study Limitations	36
Conclusion	38
Appendix 1	39
Appendix 2	39

References \_\_\_\_\_\_ 42

### Abstract

**Objectives:** In recent years, informal care is not systematically included in economic evaluations, while this could lead to suboptimal decision making. The impact of caregiving on carers is often substantial and most of the times negative, especially when the care recipients suffer from mental illnesses such as dementia. Thus, valid and reliable instruments are required to measure these carer effects for inclusion in economic assessments. This study investigates the construct validity of the Care-related Quality of Life (CarerQol)-instrument among informal caregivers of Dementia patients. The CarerQol instrument measures and values the impact of informal care by assessing happiness (CarerQol-VAS) and describing burden dimensions (CarerQol-7D).

**Methods:** The data were gathered with written questionnaires distributed by post in a population of informal caregivers of dementia patients living at home in the Gooi and Vechtstreek region (near Amsterdam) (n = 602, net response rate = 37%). Two different types of construct validity, i.e. convergent and clinical validity have been assessed. Convergent validity was analyzed with assessing Spearman's correlation coefficients and multivariate correlation between the burden dimensions (CarerQol-7D) and the valuation component (CarerQol-VAS) of the CarerQol. Additionally, the convergent validity was tested with Spearman's correlation coefficients between CarerQol and other subjective burden measures (SRB, CSI, Pt). Further, the convergent validity was evaluated with multivariate correlation between CarerQol-7D among subgroups of caregivers. The clinical validity was assessed with multivariate correlation. Additionally, exploratory analysis was performed concerning the convergent and clinical validity of the recently developed valuation component of CarerQol, the CarerQol-7D sum score (CarerQol-7D Tariff) in a similar way.

**Results:** The negative/positive dimensions of CarerQoI-7D were negatively/positively related to CarerQoI-VAS, and most of them had moderate strength of convergent validity. The CarerQoI-VAS was negatively associated with SRB and CSI and positively with Pt. The CarerQoI-VAS reflected differences in important background characteristics: educational level and subjective health of the caregiver, intensity of caregiving (in number of days per week) and use of professional home care. Our results largely corroborated earlier tests of the construct validity of the CarerQoI. Additionally, the CarerQoI-7D dimensions significantly explained differences in CarerQoI-VAS scores among subgroups of caregivers. The exploratory analysis concerning the construct validity of the CarerQoI-7D sum score showed that the latter was negatively associated with SRB and CSI and positively with CarerQoI-VAS and Pt. Moreover, CarerQoI-7D sum score reflected differences in certain background characteristics of the caregivers, care recipients and care situation which all together explained 35% of the variation in the CarerQoI-7D sum scores.

**Conclusion:** Notwithstanding the study limitations such as the selective and of modest size sample of caregivers, this study suggests that the CarerQol is a valid tool to measure and value the impact of informal care among these special providers of care for use in economic evaluations.

### Introduction

#### Informal care

Informal care has been described as the care provided to ill or disabled persons by nonprofessionals (1). Informal caregivers are the family, friends, acquaintances or neighbors of the person in need. They perform a wide range of tasks similar to those performed by professionals without being financially compensated for them. The performed activities include personal care such as bathing, eating and dressing, household work such as cleaning and cooking and emotional support to the patient (2).

Informal caregivers contribute substantially in the total health care provided to people with disabilities or those suffering from chronic diseases (3). They constitute a vital part of every health care system since they provide a great amount of services at zero cost to public administration. In the Netherlands, it has been estimated that 3.7 million people aged over 17 years (that is 29% of the Dutch population) provide informal care for a relative, friend or neighbor in need (4, 5). The relatively large number of informal caregivers is partially due to the budget constraints in the Dutch health care system in recent years, which entailed a substitution of informal care with formal care only in case of great need or inability of the caregiver to properly take care of the patient. This shift from professional to informal care has increased the pressure on informal caregivers since it has rendered the majority of them, responsible for the provision of long term and intensive care (4).

A substantial body of research devoted to the impact of caregiving on informal caregivers has identified that the later experience a heavy burden from the tasks they perform. The duration and intensity of care as well as the usually unpleasant and uncomfortable activities it involves, render caregiving a psychologically stressful and physically exhausting procedure (6, 7). Thus, caregivers are at risk of becoming patients themselves. In addition, it has been verified that caregiving is an independent risk factor for increased psychiatric morbidity and mortality among elderly caregivers (8). Consequently, despite its great benefits to care recipients and society as a whole, informal caregiving may come at a substantial cost to carers' well-being. Typically, caregiving entails a considerable expenditure of time which could otherwise have been spent to paid work or leisure activities (4, 6). The lack of personal time is frequently accompanied with the experience of social isolation (2). Moreover, informal care can lead to financial strain because of the reduced income from limited participation in the labour market and the extra expenditures required in the context of providing care. Subsequently, the higher poverty levels observed among caregivers due to financial problems put them at risk of social exclusion (2). Even in the case of access to alternatives for informal care such as the institutionalization of the patient or the provision of formal care in the patient's home whereby the burden of caregiver is considerably lower, still there may be a negative impact on caregivers' well-being (6). The absence of the patient may cause sadness or even depression to carer, feelings which become greater when the patient prefer to stay at home, due to the often strong emotional relationship between them. Moreover, when patient and caregiver share the same household, the provision of professional care from a stranger may raise privacy considerations and feelings of discomfort (1).

However, the most frequently mentioned motives for involvement in the provision of informal care are feelings of love, affection and reciprocity towards the dependent person (9, 10). Many informal caregivers see caregiving as a natural duty within a family relationship (11). This intimates that positive and beneficial effects of caring are possible. Informal caregivers have reported that the act of caregiving is a source of satisfaction and self-accomplishment (12). Providing the best attainable care to a loved person and seeing his well-being improving, gives meaning to caregiver's life and raise feelings of fulfillment (11). Moreover, the realization of someone's desire to die at home and the preservation of his dignity and self-esteem engender appreciation between the patient and the caregiver and strengthen their relationship (12). The adversities experienced by the caregiver when caring for a severely ill or disabled person contribute to the discovery of personal strength and allow her/him to grow as a person (11). Last, informal caregiving implies personal challenges which irritate the development of new unforeseen skills and abilities (13).

Some of the aforementioned elements could be also considered within the concept of process utility that is the (dis)utility derived from the process of providing informal care. The phenomenon of process utility relates to the fact that not only the outcome is of importance to the informal caregiver in the sense that the patient is adequately cared for, but also the way of reaching this outcome (14). Process utility is defined as the difference in a caregiver's happiness between the current situation of caring for a patient her-/himself and the hypothetical situation where somebody else undertakes the process of caring under the same conditions and for free (15). Previous research has shown that process utility exists, is substantial and thus significant in the context of informal care (14). Specifically, the results have revealed that a large proportion of informal caregivers derive positive utility from the process of caring and a major part of their happiness would be lost if the caregiving tasks were taken over by someone else.

In light of all the foregoing, health care interventions may have an impact not only on the patient's health and well-being but also on the well-being of significant others. Previous research has shown that these 'spill over effects' in significant others are distinguished in the caregiving effect and the family effect (16). The caregiving effect refers to the effects of caring for people suffering from an illness. In that, the patient's degree of illness and care dependency has an indirect yet substantial influence on the welfare of informal caregivers. The family effect refers to the effects of caring about other people and their health as a result of a strong social relationship between a person and the patient (such as parents and children). It therefore implies the direct impact of the patient's health on other's well-being. By definition, the caregiving effect is present in people providing informal care regardless of their relationship to the patient while the family effect applies to a wider group of people who have a social relationship with the ill person whether or not they provide care (17). However, since informal care is commonly provided by the family or friends of the patient due to the social relationship between the two, both the caregiving and family effect may be present in informal caregivers.

Concluding, those findings demonstrate that caregivers regardless of the degree of burden may also experience several kinds of satisfaction while providing care to a person in need. Thus, burden and gratification can coexist and display different features of the caregivers' situation. The identification of the burden as well as the beneficial effects experienced by the caregivers can be useful for the development of intervention strategies that can enhance the positive aspects of this practice, relieve providers of care from the difficulties they face and hence support and maintain their involvement in their valuable work (11, 14, 18).

### **Dementia caregiving**

The most commonly studied type of informal caregiving, throughout the extensive literature in this area, is Dementia caregiving (6). The unique and extreme challenges which characterize this specific type of care have induced many researchers to investigate its impact on informal caregivers.

Dementia is the loss of cognitive functioning caused by brain disorders that affect thinking, memory, behavior and judgment. It is a progressive and irreversible clinical syndrome which mainly appears in older people. As the condition progresses, a demented patient can present a range of complex problems such as aggressive behavior, delusions and hallucinations, restlessness and wandering, incontinence, eating problems and mobility difficulties. Alzheimer's disease is the most prevalent type of dementia accounting for the 70% of all diagnosed cases. Dementia is an especially costly disease with spending for the health and social care of demented people exceeding that for the care of people suffering from cancer, heart diseases and stroke put together (19). Specifically, the costs associated with the disease include direct medical and nonmedical costs such as nursing home care and in-home day care respectively, and indirect costs such as lost patient and caregiver productivity.

The worldwide number of persons suffering from dementia has been estimated at about 36 million persons. With the ageing population that number is expected to increase to more than 115 million by 2050 (20). Specifically in the Netherlands, the number of demented patients of age 65 and older is projected to double during the following 25-40 years (21). Moreover, it has been identified that the majority of elderly people with dementia receive care at home by informal caregivers, even those at an advanced stage of the disease (22). Thus, the increasing prevalence and incidence of dementia disease among elderly people in combination with the ageing population implies higher demand for care of people suffering from this illness, affecting both the formal and informal health care sector (2). In addition, the availability of drugs for patients with dementia or related disorders has increased the patients' survival time (i.e., 8-20 years) (1). This has rendered the provision of informal care to those people, a long term responsibility that gradually decays the caregivers' personal, financial and social resources. In fact, many researchers have conceptualized dementia caregiving as a chronic stressor (23).

Most demented adults, receive care from their spouse and in case of the spouse's inability to take care of them, adult children usually take up the provision of assistance (6). Moreover, it has been identified that although the provision of care is divided among the family members the more frequent scenario is that the majority of caregiving tasks are performed by one family member.

A number of studies focusing on the differences between dementia caregiving and the provision of care to loved persons with physical or other chronic conditions have confirmed that caregiving has greater negative effects on dementia caregivers than non-dementia ones and that the care of a demented patient is one of the most stressful kind of informal caregiving (6, 24, 25). The greater strain levels among dementia caregivers seems to be mainly due to the behavioral problems they are asked to contend such as screaming and destroying property (17). In addition, it has been established that 20%-24% of the demented

persons also suffer from depression (6, 11, 12). Thus, the combination of cognitive, behavioral and emotional problems that accompanies the illness makes the care of demented relatives more burdensome. Specifically, dementia caregivers experience increased depression and higher levels of anxiety compared to non-dementia providers of care (23, 24, 25). Moreover, compared to non-dementia caregivers, caregivers of demented patients are more involved in caregiving in terms of hours per week and are affected more negatively from their caregiving duties in terms of physical health problems, employment complications, personal time for vacations or hobbies and family disputes (6, 24, 25). Last, the caregivers' anticipation that the condition of the patient will only worsen and usually in an unpredictable and maybe uncontrollable manner, is another contributing element to the greater impact of dementia caregiving (24).

A recent study conducted in the Netherlands in respect of the burden experienced by dementia caregivers, verified the aforementioned conditions (21). The Health Council of the Netherlands has concluded that there is imbalance between the demand and supply of facilities and services for the people suffering from dementia. It, therefore, has advised the government to expand the residential capacity. However, the government has chosen instead, to encourage the collaboration between the providers of care at a regional level aiming to improvements in the care and services for demented patients and their caregivers in a non-residential setting. Given the expected increase of people with dementia in the next years and the policy the government has adopted, the tension between demand and supply of care will shift towards informal caregivers, increasing their subjective burden considerably.

An important implication of the presented information is that dementia caregivers seem to be in great need of support and formal services so as to cope with the caregiving task without impairing themselves. However, findings from previous studies have revealed that dementia caregivers and especially the more strained ones, report greater unmet service needs contrary to non-dementia caregivers (25). Some of the unmet service needs reported include areas such as 'coping with challenging behaviors, 'moving or lifting the patient', 'managing incontinence problems', 'making end-of-life decisions', 'choosing a home care professional', 'choosing a nursing home' .Given the especially challenging and stressful type of this care, the lack of support to those people may have a substantial negative impact on the general quality of their life. Consequently, by acknowledging their specific stressors, difficulties and resulting needs we can estimate the demand for long term care, respite care and support services and hence provide those (18).

#### Informal care in economic evaluations

Economic assessments of health care interventions are widely being undertaken so as to inform decision makers in health services around the world. It has long been acknowledged that health care as many other aspects of life, is confronted with the problem that the resources available to spend are insufficient to meet demand (26). The resources used to provide health care comprising staff, equipment and facilities, are scarce. Thus, decisions on what services will be provided to whom, where and when, have to be made. Besides resource implications, these decisions have also health consequences. The overall aim of economic evaluation is to encourage more rational decision making by comparing the costs and effects of new and existing health technologies and hence providing guidance on the overall value of these technologies to a certain population (27). That is, after efficacy and

effectiveness have been demonstrated, decision-makers can choose between competing interventions based on their relative cost-effectiveness so as to maximize the aggregate health benefits achieved (28).

The types of economic evaluation are cost-effectiveness analysis, cost-utility analysis, costbenefit analysis and cost-consequence analysis (26). The key feature that differentiates the four types of economic assessment is the unit for measuring the benefits. Economic evaluations can take several perspectives, most frequently either a narrow health care perspective or a wider, societal perspective. (28) Most national guidelines for health technology assessment studies suggest taking a societal perspective, which entails the incorporation of all relevant costs and (health) effects regardless of who experiences them in society (27, 29).

Within this context, the consideration of informal care in economic evaluations of health technologies seems to be of pivotal importance. As presented in the previous sections the impact of informal care on caregivers can be substantial in terms of costs as well as health effects. Thus, a health intervention targeted at the treatment of conditions of patients that are associated with a substantial input of informal care, may also affect either positively or negatively the caregiver of the patient. It has been notified that albeit some positive aspects of caring for a loved one exist, informal caregivers experience mainly negative outcomes from this process such as emotional strain, feelings of isolation and health losses. Thus, even if a new treatment reduces the amount of formal health care used by a patient and hence the pressure on health care budget, it may increase the need for informal care and subsequently the caregiver burden. This increased burden may put caregiver at risk of becoming patient herself/himself if her/his health worsens with caring and may hence lead to more health care costs. Finally, even when a more restricted, health care perspective is adopted, informal care should not be ignored, since potential adverse health effects in caregivers can be a decisive factor for the choice of the intervention that will be funded (3, 30).

The incorporation of informal care in economic evaluations is also relevant for interventions directed to informal caregivers such as respite care and support services (3, 31). Assessing a caregiver's situation will help in the provision of adequate support to those special providers of care (18, 31). This will enable them to continue to perform their caring role without damaging their own health and well-being, given that they provide a service that otherwise would cost public health and social services, a huge amount of money (32). Therefore, when informal care is not considered in economic evaluations of treatments in which caregivers play a vital role, suboptimal policy decisions are possible.

The attention on informal care becomes even more necessary in light of the expected demographic trends (31). Given the ageing population and the wide range of mainly chronic diseases prevalent in older ages, the demand for both formal and informal care is projected to be higher in the future (2). At the same time, the increasing participation of women in the labor market, the lower percentage of younger people and the smaller family size, imply less potential availability or willingness of family members to be involved in informal caregiving (24). Moreover, the restricted health care budgets in most countries entail a potential decrease in the provision of professional care (2). Thus, rationing of care becomes inevitable.

Nevertheless, in recent years, informal care is not systematically included in economic evaluations, even when a societal perspective is adopted. In terms of medical decision

making, patients are treated as isolated individuals and the position, needs and preferences of significant others are usually ignored (33). This appears to be due to the lack of practical methods for the incorporation of the full impact of informal care (3). That does not mean that there are no methods but that the existing ones present limitations. Indeed, there is a wide range of methods for measurement and valuation of informal care aiming at its inclusion in economic evaluations but they differ substantially in respect to the aspect of informal care they value (3, 34).

#### **Measurement and valuation**

The measurement entails the registration of the impact of informal care in terms of objective and subjective burden experienced by the caregiver, the impact on her/his health and the general quality of her/his life or her/his well-being (1). The valuation of informal care refers to the value attached on the measured impact. In order to give informal care a more salient role in healthcare resource allocation decisions, not only the explicit measurement of its costs and effects is required but also this measurement to be done in a way informative to decision makers (31). That is, costs and effects should be expressed as such that they can be properly incorporated in economic evaluations and be comparable across samples and interventions.

Non-monetary methods, mainly subjective burden measures have been suggested to register the impact of informal care (3). The subjective burden indicates how the informal caregiver experiences the caregiving task and is associated with the objective burden (e.g. time invested in caregiving, number of performed tasks and potential financial problems), the capacity of the caregiver to fulfill the caring role and several other factors (3, 5, 15).

Examples of validated instruments for assessing subjective burden are the Caregiver Strain Index (CSI), the Caregiver Reaction Assessment (CRA) and the Sense of Competence Questionnaire (SCQ) (35, 36, 37). However, these instruments measure the level of burden on different dimensions of the perceived caregiver burden. Thus, an assessment of the overall burden is not possible. Although they are quite informative on the caregiving situation, they do not register a preference based total level of burden neither provide a valuation of the subjective burden from the caregiver side (3). Hence, the relative importance caregivers assign to the different dimensions of burden cannot be elicited. An exception constitutes the Self-Rated Burden (SRB) instrument which measures the subjective burden by asking caregivers to express the burden they experience from the caregiving task on a visual analogue scale ranging from 'not straining at all' (0) to 'much too straining' (100), providing an overall valuation of their burden (34).

Given that the results derived from these descriptive measures are not expressed in monetary terms or health-related quality of life implies that they can be included in economic evaluations only as supplementary, supporting information (1). Other possible uses of this information are in a cost-consequence or multicriteria analysis.

Available valuation techniques can generate a monetary valuation of the impact of informal care for use in economic appraisals. The most appealing and commonly used valuation methods are the market price and opportunity cost method (3, 34, 38, 39). In accordance to these techniques, the informal care is valued by multiplying the hours spent on providing care with a value per hour. In the first case, the value assigned to the time spent on caregiving is derived from the price of a close market substitute. However, by attaching the

same value to formal and informal care, this method assumes that these two are perfect substitutes, without taking into account the potential differences in quality or efficiency of the provided care. In the second case, the value of caregiver's time input equals the value of the best alternative use of that time such as paid work or leisure activities.

Both methods constitute a quite straightforward manner to include informal care in economic evaluations by incorporating the resulting estimates on the numerator of the costeffectiveness ratio. Nevertheless, the equal valuation of all caregiving hours implies that the aforementioned techniques fail to consider the fulfillment or disutility that informal caregivers may experience from caring for a loved one after a specific period of time and from the different care activities performed (3, 39). Thus, they are deemed unsuitable to value the full impact of informal care on caregivers.

Other possible options for the monetary valuation of informal care are stated preference methods such as the contingent valuation method and conjoint measurement method. Following the contingent valuation technique, the value of informal care is obtained by asking informal caregivers the minimum amount of money they are willing to pay or accept so as to stop or continue respectively to perform their caring role (40, 41, 42, 43). However, it has been identified that many people find it difficult or inconvenient to elicit a monetary value of the time spent on the provision of care for a loved person. Further, it is possible that the stated preferences elicited through this method, to be completely different from the revealed preferences, resulting in biased valuations of informal care. The conjoint measurement method values the informal care by asking caregivers to choice or rank different care scenarios according to their preferences on the attributes of the presented alternatives (40, 44). When cost is included as an attribute, a monetary valuation of informal care is possible. A problem with this method is that the valuation of multi-attribute scenarios may be cognitively demanding for older respondents or those with limited educational attainment. Thus, although more sensitive to caregivers' preferences, the last two valuation techniques are questionable regarding the validity and consistency of the valuations they provide.

Finally, it has been argued that maybe in addition to monetary valuation of time, the impact of informal care in terms of health effects can be directly included in economic assessments using validated questionnaires such as the EuroQol-instrument (3, 45). The EuroQolinstrument consists of a descriptive system, covering five dimensions of health and a visual analog scale for the valuation of the derived health states. It measures changes in the health-related quality of life in terms of quality-adjusted life years (24). Hence, changes in health-related quality of life of the caregivers can be combined with that of the patients and can be incorporated in the denominator of cost-effectiveness ratio. However, it has been stated that informal caregiving may affect the overall well-being of the caregivers beyond their health. Thus, such an approach provides only a partial valuation of informal care since it considers only the health effects this practice may entail (1, 3).

### The CarerQol instrument

In light of the limitations of the aforementioned valuation methods and their failure to measure and value the full impact of informal care so as to be properly considered in economic evaluations, the CarerQol instrument (15) and the Caregiver Experience Scale

(CES) were developed (46, 47). Both subjective burden measures combine measurement and valuation of the caregiver burden. Our study is focused on the CarerQol instrument.

The CarerQol instrument, an acronym for care-related quality of life, encompasses a description of the caring situation on seven dimensions (CarerQol-7D) and a valuation of general quality of life (CarerQol-VAS) (Figure 1). It describes the subjective caregiver burden on two positive dimensions: fulfillment and support and five negative dimensions: relational problems, mental health problems, problems with combining daily activities, financial problems and physical health problems. The respondents can express the level of burden they experience in their care situation, in respect of each one of the seven dimensions, by choosing one of the possible answers, 'no', 'some' or 'a lot'. In this way,  $2.187 (=3^7)$  potential care situations can be discerned.

Recently, a tariff has become available for the CarerQol-instrument (48) which allows the calculation of a weighted sum score of the CarerQol-7D, taking the severity of problems into consideration (Table 1). The tariff has been calculated based on Dutch preferences for different caregiving situations and hence concern Dutch national tariffs. According to the weighted sum score, the worst caregiving situation takes a score of 0, while the best takes a score of 100. The scores ranging from 0 to 100 can be calculated using the tariffs in **Table 1**.

The CarerQol-VAS measures the general well-being in terms of happiness e.g. 'the degree to which an individual judges the overall quality of his life-as-a-whole favorably' on a visual analogue scale (VAS) ranging from (0) 'completely unhappy' to (10) 'completely happy'. A broad outcome measure such as happiness is able to capture the wide range of potential consequences informal caregivers experience with caring. Thus, the CarerQol instrument could give an estimation of the overall impact of informal care and increase its consideration in economic evaluations since it combines the information density of a subjective burden measure with a comprehensive valuation method. A downside, though, is that the happiness of a caregiver may also be influenced by factors beyond care such as the level of income or the type of work and hence a happiness score may constitute an over- or underestimation of the experienced burden (49).

The results of the CarerQol can be comprised at the denominator in a cost-consequence or a multicriteria analysis. In addition, CarerQol could be considered as useful tool to conduct a cost-utility analysis in the case of the evaluation of an intervention directed specifically to caregivers (15).

Figure 1 CarerQol-instrument (and observed response in study sample)

#### CarerQol-7D

Please draw an "X" to indicate which description best fits your current caregiving situation



#### CarerQol-VAS

Please draw an "X" on the scale below to indicate how happy you feel currently



[Observed score in study sample (mean; SD): 6.3 (1.9)]

### Table 1 National tariff CarerQol-7D

Dimension	Tariff for score		
	no	some	a lot
Fullfilment	0.0	15.0	19.6
Relational problems	13.5	10.6	0.0
Mental Health problems	13.5	10.4	0.0
Problems with daily activities	10.2	6.1	0.0
Financial problems	15.1	11.7	0.0
Support	0.0	4.2	6.5
Physical health problems	15.0	15.6	0.0
plus: a 'bonus' for:	no	yes	
No mental health problems <b>and</b> no physical health problems	0.0	0.6	

### Numeric Example CarerQol-7D

Suppose that the answers of a respondent on the CarerQol-7D are:

- some fulfilment
- a lot of relational problems
- no mental health problems
- some problems combining daily activities
- no financial problems
- a lot of support
- no physical health problems

### **The CarerQol-7D score is**: 15 + 0 + 13.5 + 6.1 + 15.1 + 6.5 + 15 + 6.6 = **77.8**

It is important to keep in mind when calculating the CarerQol-7D score that respondents get a 'bonus' of 6.6 for having neither mental nor physical health problems.

### **Study Objectives and hypothesis**

Given the growing body of evidence on the burden of caregiving and the adverse health effects it can cause to caregivers, especially those who care for a person with mental illness such as dementia, the consideration of these impacts is crucial. In that sense, feasible, valid and reliable instruments are required to measure that burden.

The concept of reliability is a fundamental way to express the amount of error, either random or systematic, which is inherent in every measurement (50). According to Joppe's (2000) definition,

the extent to which results are consistent over time and an accurate representation of the total population under study is referred to as reliability and if the results of a study can be reproduced under a similar methodology then the research is considered to be reliable (51).

The underlying idea of this citation is that of replicability or repeatability of observations. The four types of reliability mentioned in quantitative research are, the degree to which different observers give consistent estimates of the same phenomenon, the consistency of a measure from one time to another, the consistency of the results of two tests constructed in the same way from the same content domain, the consistency of results across items within a test (52). The consistency with which questionnaire parts are answered or respondents' scores remain relatively the same is referred to as stability of an instrument. The stability of an instrument can be determined using the test-retest method at two different points in time (53). A high degree of stability implies a high degree of reliability (51). Despite the fact that the researcher may be able to demonstrate the repeatability and consistency of an instrument and hence its reliability, this doesn't entail that the instrument is valid.

Validity determines whether the research instrument measures what it was supposed to measure and the veracity of the research results (51). The reason why we assess validity is that many variables measured in health sciences are not physical quantities such as height or weight and thus not readily observable. Some instances of such variables are the quality of life, happiness or social support. The measurements of these variables are based on their definitions, which may be different among persons, and the way these measurements are derived. Since such factors cannot be observed or measured directly, several questionnaires have been developed to appraise them, each of them based on a different underlying theory. Consequently, each instrument produces a different result and the arising question is which of them yields the correct one (50).

The validity in quantitative research is described as 'construct validity' (54). The construct is the primary concept, question or hypothesis that specifies which data has to be gathered and in which way. For example, we cannot see anxiety but we can observe behaviors that, according to our theory about anxiety, are the consequences of it. In that, our conclusions are hypothesized assertions in terms of the observable behaviors of the patients. Thus, the construct can be considered as a 'mini-theory' to explicate the relationships among several different behaviors or attitudes. Using the underlying theory we can develop new or better instruments in the sense that they explain a wider range of findings, give a more parsimonious explanation of them or predict more accurately the patients' behaviors (50). Different types of the construct validity are the convergent and clinical validity. It has also been stated that the researchers actively cause or influence the interaction between construct and data so as to validate their investigation, commonly by applying a test or some other process. In that, the researchers' involvement in the research process would considerably decrease the validity of a test. In summary, it is evidently necessary to perform validation studies when a new instrument is developed. Nevertheless, when a scale measures a hypothetical construct such as the aforementioned, the validation is an on-going process (50).

The CarerQol instrument seems a promising instrument to measure the burden of caregiving in a valid and reliable way. Previous studies have tested some of its psychometric properties such as, feasibility, reliability and construct validity (15, 49, 55). The results of these tests showed that CarerQol is a clear, easy to administer and comprehensible instrument. Concerning the reliability of the instrument, the obtained responses on two different measurement moments (a relatively small time interval during which differences in patient, caregiver or care situation characteristics were not likely) from the same population, gave similar CarerQol-VAS scores and the observed differences were nearly zero. The same holds for the second part of the instrument, CarerQol-7D (56). The construct validity of the

instrument, including clinical and convergent validity was also good. More specifically, increased reported burden on the CarerQol-7D was related to increased burden measured with other subjective burden instruments, such as the Self-rated Burden scale and the Caregiver Strain index. In addition, the CarerQol-VAS was positively associated with the positive dimensions of CarerQol-7D and negatively with the negative dimensions of the instrument (15, 49, 56). Thus, greater fulfillment and support was related to higher happiness scores while more relational, mental, physical or financial problems led to lower happiness scores. In respect to the clinical validity, the CareQol-instrument has been found to discriminate well between different caregivers in terms of personal characteristics, care recipient characteristics and caregiving situation. That is, CareQol-VAS was associated with the background characteristics of informal care in the expected direction e.g. elderly caregivers, those caring for a patient suffering from physical and mental health problems and those caring for someone in need of permanent surveillance had lower CareQol-VAS scores.

Two of the aforementioned studies have tested the psychometric properties of the CarerQol instrument in heterogeneous populations of informal caregivers providing informal care at home, addressed through regional informal care support centers throughout the Netherlands (15, 49). The third study assessed the feasibility, validity and reliability of the CarerQol instrument in a heterogeneous sample of informal caregivers who are long-term care users identified through a nursing home near Rotterdam (56). The aim of this study is to further investigate the construct validity of the CarerQol instrument using a Dutch population of dementia caregivers. To achieve this we will test the convergent and clinical validity of the instrument such as in the previous studies. Additionally, our research is the first to study in an explorative way the convergent and clinical validity of the new sum score of the CarerQol-7D.

We refer to convergent validation as the extent to which the construct of the CarerQol instrument resembles the construct of other instruments measuring the subjective burden of informal care. Clinical validity will be assessed by the extent to which differences in patient, caregiver and caregiving situation characteristics are reflected as anticipated in differences in CarerQol-VAS scores and CarerQol-7D sum scores. Hence, this term closely resembles construct validity in the sense that one expects a lower happiness score and a lower CarerQol-7D sum score (calculated using the CarerQol Tariff), if some of the underlying features of the caregiving situation worsen.

Given the results from the previous studies, we expect that our findings on convergent and clinical validity will be similar. That is, a positive relation between CareQol-7D and other subjective burden instruments, in terms of the burden measured. Moreover, we expect that CareQol-VAS scores will be negatively associated with more problems on the CarerQol-7D dimensions and increased burden measured with the other burden instruments. Regarding the clinical validity, we assume that differences in caregiver, patient and care situation characteristics such as the age of caregiver and care receiver, the type of the relationship between the two and the duration of provided care will be reflected in differences in happiness scores (according to the findings in the previous studies). More specifically, based on the literature regarding the dementia caregivers we anticipate that female and younger care providers as well as those with lower income will be more burdened. In addition, a lower burden is expected to be experienced by those with a better quality of life and health

status (55). Overall, a relatively lower average score of happiness is anticipated among this special group of caregivers compared to non-dementia caregivers, given the specificity of dementia disease and the considerable harder task that dementia caregivers have to perform.

### **Methods**

### Population/ data

Secondary data analysis was performed using data on dementia caregivers (57). The data were gathered with written questionnaires distributed by post in a population of informal caregivers of dementia patients living at home. The caregivers were identified by using data of the assessment agency of the Dutch Exceptional Medical Expenses Act. In this data base, diagnosed demented patients who receive formal help are registered. In September 2007, the informal caregivers of all 602 registered patients suffering from dementia in the region Gooi and Vechstreek near Amsterdam were approached so as to participate in a longitudinal study. An information package was sent to the home addresses of those patients directed to the primary informal caregiver of them. The information package included an introductory letter with a description of the background and the objective of the study, the request for participation, the questionnaires and a pre-paid reply envelope. A reminder was sent after one month.

The gross response rate was 49% (n=292). The lack of response was caused by administrative omissions in the file used. That is, the information package might be sent to people who had moved to another home or cared for demented patients already admitted to a nursing home or deceased. Another reason might be the fact that participation in the study was considered by some as too burdensome (57). The absence of an informal caregiver, loss or misunderstanding of the mail, are also possible causes of non-response (57).

In total, 223 cases were analyzed. After examining the content of the envelopes, 69 replies appeared to be inappropriate for this study. This exclusion was caused by empty or undeliverable return envelopes and response by informal caregivers of patients already admitted to a nursing home or deceased, care recipients without dementia, or barely filled in lists of questions. The net response rate was 37%.

### Measures/Questionnaires

The impact of informal care was measured with the CarerQol instrument, the Caregiver Strain Index (CSI), the Self-Rated Burden scale (SRB) and the perseverance time measure (Pt).The CarerQol-instrument has been described in detail in the Introduction. The CSI and SRB are concise and simple instruments to register the impact of informal care (1). They have been established to be more feasible and of equal validity in appraising the caregiver burden compared to longer and more complex subjective burden measures such as the Caregiver Reaction Assessment (CRA) and the Sense of Competence Questionnaire (SCQ) (58).

The CSI measures the perceived strain from the caregiving task by asking the caregiver to demonstrate agreement on 13 statements concerning the consequences of informal care giving, on a dichotomous no/yes scale. Based on this, a non-weighted sum score can derive. A 'yes' receives a score of '1' for negative

dimensions and a score of '-1' for positive dimensions. A 'no' receives a score of '0' for both items. The sum scores range from 0 (no burden) to 13 (problems in all 13 items) (59). A higher score implies a higher perceived burden of caregiving. The CSI makes it possible to identify caregivers at risk due to adverse (health) effects by a cut-off value which has been defined for it (60, 61). Specifically, a score of 7 or higher is indicative of substantial strain experienced by informal caregivers (35). However, as mentioned above, the summary score of the CSI is not weighted. Hence, although such a summary score in combination with a cut-off point can be a useful tool to diagnose substantial burden, it is unclear whether it generates a justifiable estimate of the burden as perceived by the caregivers (58). Thus, the respondents were asked to display their experienced burden also on the SRB scale which takes this into account by producing an overall indication of subjective burden, presumably comprising all positive and negative effects of caregiving.

The SRB measures the overall subjective burden experienced by the informal caregiver with a horizontal VAS ranging from 0 (not straining at all) to 10 (much too straining). It is a generic measure and hence can be applied to different informal care populations and research settings (31). Moreover, it can be used as a screening tool for severe burden among informal caregivers (15, 49, 56, 62).

Finally, the subjective burden was also measured by the Pt. The perseverance time is defined as the period of time for which caregivers themselves denote that they can continue to provide care for their loved one in need under the current conditions (21). It is used as an indicator of how caregivers deal with their caregiving situation and the level and type of support they may need so as to be able to carry on. That is, the shorter period of time an individual states that he is able to carry on providing informal care, the more difficulties she/he may face and thus the more support she/he needs so as to continue to perform her/his caring role. More specifically, the caregivers were asked to choose between 5 different periods of time that they judge themselves able to continue to be involved in the caregiving task. These are, 'more than one week but less than one month', 'more than one month but less than six months', 'more than six months but less than one year', 'more than one year but less than two years', 'more than two years'. For our analysis we transformed the categories of perseverance time into months. Pt in months was determined in the first four answer categories by taking the middle of the category (i.e. 3.5 months for the category 'more than one month, but less than 6 months') and was set at 30 months in the (open) fifth category.38/223 respondents didn't give an indication of the perseverance time.

In addition, the questionnaire included questions on background characteristics of the caregivers, the care recipients and the caregiving situation. Specifically, information was collected on the caregivers' age, gender, educational level, and partner status, having children under 18 in the household, health status, sufficient information on possibilities for support for dementia patients and whether they knew where to search for information in the beginning of their involvement in the caregiving role.

The information obtained on the care recipients' background characteristics included age, gender, partner status, relation to the caregiver, living situation, need for continuous

surveillance, comorbidity, the severity of the comorbidity, health status and level of care dependency.

The health status of the demented patients and informal carers was measured with a horizontal VAS, upon which informal carers could indicate how they experience their health and that of their dementia patient relative on a scale ranging from 0 (worst conceivable health) to 10 (best conceivable health). Regarding the need for continuous surveillance the caregivers were asked to choose between three different options. These are, 'yes' (i.e. there is need for continuous surveillance), 'no, but the care recipient can only be alone for one hour or less', 'no, the care recipient can stay alone for several hours'. Finally the level of care dependency was measured with a horizontal VAS ranging from 0 (completely independent) to 10 (completely dependent).

Questions on the caregiving situation comprised duration of care in years, the intensity of care in days per week and hours per week of provision of informal care, care giving activities divided up in activities of daily living (ADL), personal care and practical support. These questions aimed to register the objective burden as it was the case in previous research (5, 15, 60). In addition, information was collected on whether the caregiver and the patient share the same household, whether the demented patient receives support from other informal caregivers, the use of professional home care, personal care and nursing care, medical treatment, the use of day care outside the home of the care recipient, and the use of private help in the household of the care recipient.

### **Statistical analysis**

Firstly, we performed descriptive analyses of all the variables using means, standard deviations and percentages **(Table 2)**. For categorical variables, such as gender, educational level, we presented the number in each category, indicating the percentage of the total caregivers or care recipients. For continuous variables, we calculated the mean values. Moreover, we assessed the variability of the observations by calculating the standard deviation.

### **Convergent validity**

The convergent validity was tested by analyzing the associations between CarerQol-7D and CarerQol-VAS using Spearman's correlation coefficients **(Table 3)**. In this study we used Spearman's correlation coefficients, because we have variables measured at ordinal level (i.e. CarerQol-7D). As we know, the calculation of mean values which is the case for Pearson's correlation (parametric technique) is 'meaningless' when we have variables not measured at the interval level (63). Moreover, rank correlation has the advantage of not specifically estimating linear associations but more general associations. Hence, the researcher avoids an underestimation of the association between two variables using Pearson's correlation coefficient, in case of a curved relationship between them. In addition, the Spearman's rank correlation seems to be the preferable option since it is the only non-parametric technic which generates as much information as its parametric cousin (Pearson's correlation) rather than just a p-value. It is in general easier to be calculated than the similar

method of Kendall's coefficient and it is easy to carry out using available software programs by ranking the data and conducting the usual Pearson correlation analysis.

However, the correlation coefficient does not describe the relation between the variables but it just indicates the degree of the association between them as a single number. Hence, to assess the relation between the two components of the CarerQol instrument, we carried out multiple linear regression analysis so as to predict CarerQol-VAS scores on the basis of the CarerQol-7D dimensions **(Table 4)**.

As it was notified in the section 'The CarerQol- instrument', happiness is a broad outcome measure since it can be affected by elements not necessarily related to the caregiving task. To correct for this, we related the CarerQol-7D to the more specific outcome measures: SRB, CSI, Pt, again by performing multiple linear regression analysis **(Table 4)**.

In both models the CarerQoI-7D dimensions were treated as continuous variables since additional analyses proved that treating them as continuous or categorical variables generates largely similar results **(Table 8, Appendix 1)**. Specifically, in a manner similar to the method used in the first test for construct validation of the CarerQol instrument (15), we developed two types of models, both of which had as dependent variable the CareQoI-VAS score. In the first model, each dimension was treated as continuous variable. As a result, the model had seven independent variables, one for each of the seven dimensions. In the second model, we created two dummy variables for each of the CarerQoI-7D dimensions so as to correct for the fact that the results for each dimension were actually ordinal in structure. Consequently, the model had 14 independent variables.

Then, we performed a likelihood ratio test so as to compare the fit of the first model to the fit of the second. Adding predictor variables to a model will almost always make the model fit better the data i.e. a model will have higher log likelihood. However, it is necessary to test whether the observed difference in model fit is statistically significant. In our case, the difference between the log likelihoods of the two models was not statistically significant (at the level of significance p< 0.05) which means that both models fit the data at the same degree and thus we chose to use the first restricted model for the reason of simplicity **(Table 8, Appendix 1)**.

In addition, the convergent validity was tested by the relation between CarerQoI-VAS and the three other measures of subjective burden, SRB, CSI and Pt with the use of Spearman's correlation coefficients **(Table 3)**. Further, the same relations were tested for the separate dimensions of the CarerQoI-7D and the sum score of CarerQoI -7D **(Table 3)**. If all measures evaluate the similar concept, high correlations between them may be expected. There are different guidelines to assess the strength of correlation coefficients (64, 65). In line with the previous studies of the instrument (15, 49, 56), the strength of the Spearman's correlation coefficients is indicated by the guideline of Hopkins (66) : <0.1 trivial; 0.1-0.3 small;0.3-0.5 moderate; 0.5-0.7 high; 0.7-0.9 very high; >0.9 nearly perfect, which mostly is in compliance with the other classifications (49). Correlation of small to moderate strength or higher is considered as a sign of validity, because, as it was mentioned before, happiness is a broad outcome measure and thus the CarerQoI-VAS score may not only relate to caring. It may be also influenced by other factors such as merely the fact that a loved one is in a bad health condition, i.e. family effect (16, 44), the level of income, the type of job or the burden of the obligations the caregiver is asked to fulfill out of the caregiving task (49).

To further test convergent validity, the model with dependent variable the CarerQoI-VAS and independent variables the CarerQoI-7D dimensions, was applied in subgroups of caregivers (Table 5). These subgroups consisted of caregivers with low or high SRB, caregivers with low or high CSI and those with low or high Pt.

#### **Clinical validity**

We assessed the bivariate relation between CarerQol-VAS and background characteristics of caregivers, care recipients and care situation with one-way ANOVA tests (Table 2), such as in the previous studies of the instrument (15, 49, 56). Our aim was to examine how the changes of the values on each characteristic influence the values on the CarerQol-VAS (i.e. if there is a statistically significant relationship between two variables at a time, the strength of this relationship and if it is positive or negative). We used one-way ANOVA test, since we have categorical independent variables with two or more categories (as for the continuous variables, they were converted into categorical variables by grouping values into two categories based on the mean value calculated), the population variances in each group are equal and the dependent variable is normally distributed. The principal behind this method is to divide the total variability of a set of data into components because of different sources of variation (63). The test compares the mean CarerQol-VAS scores between the categories of the independent variables we are interested in, and determines whether any of those means are significantly different from each other. Thus, our null hypothesis is that there is no difference between the mean CarerQol-VAS scores of the groups in which we have divided our sample population based on a specific background characteristic. A statistical significant difference rejects the null hypothesis.

In addition, we performed a stepwise multiple regression analysis (backward selection, p< 0.2) of CarerQol- VAS and CarerQol-7D and background characteristics of informal care **(Table 6)**. Our goal was to make predictions based on the relationship that exists between these variables by taking information about all of the independent variables. In this model, the choice of the reference category of categorical variables was based on the highest mean of CarerQol-VAS score. Some categories of these variables were merged because of a small number of observations in one of these categories (< 10% of observations) and also due to the similar concept of some categories (such as the categories sister/brother and sister/brother in law under the characteristic 'relationship caregiver-care recipient'). The CarerQol-7D dimensions were treated as continuous variables in the model and we included them in the model regardless of their statistical significance level.

The multivariate stepwise regression analysis has been criticized concerning the fact that it provides models that do not necessarily comprise the best subset of independent variables (56, 67). To avoid inaccuracy of our findings and due to the relatively small size of our sample (n=223), we used a relatively high p-value (< 0.2) as the criterion to exclude a variable from our model. In addition, we performed subsequent likelihood-ratio tests. We compared the fit of the base model (i.e. dependent variable: CarerQol-VAS and independent variables: CarerQol-7D dimensions) to the fit of the model resulted by adding variables describing the characteristics of caregiver, care recipient and caregiving situation. The level of statistical significance used to keep the added variable in the base model, was the same as in the stepwise regression model (i.e. p < 0.2). An observed difference of statistical significance higher than 0.2 between the two models fit entailed that both the restricted (base model) and the less restricted model fit the data the same. Hence, we excluded the

added variable because it did not improve the performance of our model. This process resulted in largely the same statistically significant explanatory variables to appear as in the stepwise regression, hence establishing the robustness of our findings to the method used.

Two additional variables emerged statistical significant in the model specified after the likelihood-ratio tests. These were the caregiver's age and the need for continuous surveillance. So as to investigate if the model resulted from the stepwise regression improves when these two variables added, we performed likelihood-ratio test by adding each time one of the variables. None of these variables appeared to improve the model and hence we did not include them in the final model **(Table 6).** 

Subsequently, we performed a variance inflation factors (VIF) test in the final model so as to check for multicolinearity problems, since in data obtained from observational studies like ours, this is a usual phenomenon. Multicollinearity occurs whenever two or more predictors in a regression model are moderately or highly correlated and hence provide redundant information about the response. High multicollinearity implies that the estimated regression coefficient of any one variable depends on other predictors which are included in the model. The precision of the estimated regression coefficients, therefore, decreases as more predictors are added to the model and the standard error of estimates of the coefficients increases, decreasing the reliability of our results. VIFs exceeding 10 are signs of serious multicollinearity in the model which requires correction. Our results showed that multicollinearity did not exist.

In addition, to further test how the data fitted our model, we conducted a series of likelihood-ratio tests which concerned the linearity of the continuous variables and the probability of certain interaction effects on the variance in CareQol-VAS score. The level of statistical significance used as criterion for a change in our model (i.e. non-linear effect, interaction effects) was more restricted (p < 0.05). Our results confirmed the linear relationship of the continuous variables and the CarerQol-VAS score. Concerning the interaction effects among the already included variables on the CarerQol-VAS score, none of them appeared to be statistical significant.

We performed similar analysis for the new component of CarerQol, the CarerQol-7D Tariff, so as to study its clinical validity; bivariate relation was performed between CarerQoI-7D sum score and background characteristics of caregivers, care recipients and care situation with one-way ANOVA tests so as to identify if there are any significant differences between the mean CarerQoI-7D sum scores of the categories of each independent variable (Table 2). In addition, we performed a stepwise multiple regression analysis (backward selection, p < 0.2) of CarerQol- 7D Tariff and background characteristics of informal care so as to assess the relation between these variables (**Table 7**). In line with the aforementioned analysis, to avoid inaccuracy of our findings and due to the relatively small size of our sample (n=223), we used a relatively high p-value (< 0.2) as the criterion to exclude a variable from our model. In addition, we performed subsequent likelihood-ratio tests for the same reason. We compared the fit of the base model (i.e. dependent variable: CarerQol-7D sum score and independent variable: caregiver's subjective health) to the fit of the model resulted by adding variables describing the characteristics of caregiver, care recipient and caregiving situation. Subsequently, we performed a VIF test in the final model, so as to check for multicolinearity which showed that multicolinearity did not exist. Finally, linear associations were tested for all continuous variables by performing a series of likelihood-ratio tests which verified the linear relationship of the later and the CarerQol-7D sum score.

All statistical analyses were performed using Stata version 11.0 (Statistics/ Data Analysis).

## <u>Results</u>

### Characteristics of caregivers, care recipients and care situations

**Table 2(a, b, c)** presents the characteristics of our sample (n=223). The average age of caregivers was approximately 66 years and most of them were women with a middle or higher educational level. Caregivers most often provided care to a partner or a parent (in-law), and more than half of them shared a household with the care recipient. In addition to the responsibility for the dementia patient 11% of the informal caregivers had children living at home. The majority of caregivers reported that they had sufficient information on possibilities for support as well as knowledge on where to search for information at the beginning of their caregiving task.

The burden experienced was generally considerable with an average SRB score of 5.8 and an average CSI score of 7.7. More than half (54.7%) of the informal caregivers had CSI score  $\ge 8$ . The average Pt in months was 18.4 (SD 11.0). Approximately four out of ten informal carers argued they would be able to carry on providing informal care for longer than two years. However, about one out of five informal carers did not see themselves coping for longer than six months with the current caregiving situation, while five percent even no longer than one month. Overall, health and happiness were valued respectively at 7.3 and 6.3 (on a scale of 0-10).

Care recipients were predominantly women (54%) and on average, 15 years older than the caregiver. 62% of the dementia patients had a partner and 90% lived in their own home. The health of them was valued by informal carers with a mark of 5.8 (on a scale of 0-10). Approximately in three quarters of the dementia cases there was co-morbidity. The care dependency of dementia patients was valued at 7.0 (on a scale of 0-10). The largest proportion of them could easily be left alone for a few or several hours, while 22% needed continuous surveillance.

The duration of the informal care was on average 2.5 years, and the intensity amounted to an average 38 hours per week spread over, on average, 5 days per week. Most time was spent on activities of daily living, followed by assisting the patient with personal care, e.g. eating and shower, and provision of practical support, e.g. visiting friends and administrative issues. A little over four out of ten dementia patients received additional professional home care, 62% made use of day care outside home and more than half of them also received help from other informal caregivers. Last, in approximately one third of the cases, use was made of additional private help with the household activities.

	Percentage		Mean CarerQol-VAS	Mean CarerQol-7D
	or mean	SD	score	Tariff
Age (years)	66.4	13.4		
<66			6.63***	69.12**
>=66			6.00	74.48
Gender				
Female	65.5%		6.12*	68.69***
Male	34.5%		6.62	77.19
Educational level				
None	0.9%		5.00***	41.70**
Primary school	11.7%		6.04	65.21
Secondary school	58.7%		6.04	71.60
College/university	28.7%		6.95	75.21
Partner status				
Unmarried	7.2%		5.94	71.46
Married and/or living together	83.8%		6.35	71.44
Widow(er)	3.6%		5.62	71.80
Divorced	5.4%		6.42	74.67
household				
No	88.8%		6.20**	70.74**
Yes	11.2%		7.08	78.66
Subjective Health	7.2	1.6		
<7	26.5%		5.20***	56.91***
>=7	73.5%		6.69	76.92
Sufficient information on				
possibilities for support				
No	11.7%		5.42***	65.08*
Yes or a little	88.3%		6.41	72.49
Knowledge on where to				
search for information in the				
beginning				
No	39.0%		5.90***	67.49***
Yes or a little	61.0%		6.55	74.27
Self Rated Burden	5.8	2.2		
<6	43.0%		6.53	78.19***
>=6	57.0%		6.12	66.67
Caregiver Strain Index	7.7	3.0		
<8	45.3%		7.08***	81.20***
>=8	54.7%		5.65	63.70
Perseverance time in months	18.4	10.9		
<18	31.8%		5.77***	62.98***
>=18	68.2%		6.54	75.66

**Table 2a** Characteristics of the caregiver (mean (SD) or percentages) and bivariate correlationwith CarerQol-VAS and CarerQol-7D Tariff, n=223

	Percentage		Mean CarerQol-VAS	Mean CarerQol-7D
	or mean	SD	score	Tariff
Age (years)	81.2	6.7		
<81			6.02*	69.69
>=81			6.50	73.04
Gender				
Female	53.8%		6.67***	77.32***
Male	46.2%		5.85	65.00
Partner status				
Unmarried	1.8%		6.75***	79.90***
Married and/or living together	62.3%		5.92	67.30
Widow(er)	33.6%		6.92	78.86
Divorced	2.3%		7.00	76.90
Relationship with caregiver				
Partner	54.2%		5.8***	65.76***
Parent (-in-law)	38.7%		6.79	77.47
Sister/brother(-in-law)	1.3%		6.00	79.87
Friend/neighbour	2.2%		7.2	86.08
Other	3.6%		8.00	85.41
Living situation				
Own home	89.7%		6.24	71.56
Residential home	10.3%		6.74	72.18
Continuous surveilllance				
Yes	22.4%		6.02	72.32
No	77.6%		6.37	71.43
Comorbidity				
Yes	78.0%		6.25	70.90
No	22.0%		6.44	74.21
Severeness of comorbidity				
no	22.0%		6.45	74.21***
mild	19.7%		6.48	76.05
moderate	38.6%		6.34	72.13
severe	19.7%		5.86	63.34
Health (rated by caregiver)	5.8	1.8		
<6	41.7%		5.92***	66.97***
>=6	58.3%		6.56	74.96
Care dependency	7.0	2.4		
<7			6.45	72.28
>=7			6.20	71.23

**Table 2b** Characteristics of the care recipient (mean (SD) or percentages) and bivariate correlatiwith CarerQol-VAS and CarerQol-7D Tariff, n=223

	Percentage		Mean CarerQol-VAS	Mean CarerQol-7D
	or mean	SD	score	Tariff
Total years care (years)	2.4	1.5		
<2			6.39	74.20
>=2			6.24	70.18
Days p/wk (days)	4.8	2.8		
<5			7.01***	77.52***
>=5			5.85	67.99
Hours p/week (h)	37.7	40.9		
<38			6.62***	75.23***
>=38			5.63	64.22
Care activities (h p/wk)				
ADL activities (h)	23.3	38.8		
<23			6.54***	73.86***
>=23			5.38	63.25
Personal care (h)	18.2	36.2		
<18			6.49***	74.02***
>=18			5.55	62.68
Practical support (h)	16.6	32.3		
<17			6.37	73.63***
>=17			6.00	63.46
Care recipient shares				
household				
No	42.6%		6.90***	78.70***
Yes	57.4%		5.84	66.38
Support from other informal				
caregivers	47.00/		c 22	71 70
NO	47.0%		0.33	/1./8
Yes	53.0%		6.26	71.49
Professional care Professional home care				
Νο	55.2%		5.82***	67.89***
Yes	44.8%		6.88	76.22
Personal care and nursing care				
No	62.8%		6.23	72.07
Yes	37.2%		6.40	70.87
Medical treatment				
No	85.6%		6.5	71.43
Yes	14.4%		6.17	72.81
Day care outside home				
No	37.7%		6.5	73.04
Yes	62.3%		6.17	70.77
Private help in household of				
recipient				
No	71.0%		6.37	72.45
Yes	29.0%		6.11	69.61

**Table 2c** Characteristics of the care situation (mean (SD) or percentages) and bivariate correlationwith CarerQol-VAS and CarerQol-7D Tariff, n=223

### CarerQol-7D

Almost all caregivers experienced fulfillment from caring (87.9%), and the majority received support with their caregiving tasks (82.9%) **(Figure 1)**. The problems most often reported were relational problems with the care receiver (71.8%) and combining care with other daily activities (70.9%). Almost two-thirds indicated physical and/or mental health problems. The problem encountered by the smallest group of caregivers (9.9%) was financial difficulties as a consequence of caring for a demented patient.

### **Convergent validity**

The Spearman's correlation coefficients of CarerQol-VAS, SRB, CSI, Pt, CarerQol-7D Tariff and CarerQol-7D dimensions are shown in **Table 3**. CarerQol-VAS was negatively associated with SRB score, CSI score and the CarerQol-7D dimensions relational problems, mental health problems, problems with daily activities, financial problems and physical health problems and positively with the Pt score and the dimension fulfillment (range absolute values correlation coefficients 0.24-0.51).

The SRB was negatively associated with the dimension fulfillment and positively with the dimensions indicating the existence of problems, although the dimension financial problems, was not statistically significant (range absolute values correlation coefficients 0.22-0.33). The CSI was associated with CarerQol-7D dimensions in the expected way. That is, a positive association was observed with the negative dimensions and the reverse with the positive dimensions of the CarerQol-instrument (range absolute values correlation coefficients 0.13-0.47). The expected associations were also observed between Pt and the CarerQol-7D dimensions, although the dimension support was not statistical significant (range absolute values correlation coefficients 0.13-0.41).

Last, the recently developed component of CarerQol-instrument, the CarerQol-7D Tariff was positively associated with the CarerQol-VAS score, the Pt score and the CareQol-7D dimensions fulfillment and support while a negative association was noticed with the SRB score, the CSI score and the negative CarerQol-7D dimensions (range absolute values correlation coefficients 0.17-0.80).

	CarerQol-VAS	SRB	CSI	Pt	CarerQol Tariff
SRB	-0.25***				
CSI	-0.45***	0.55***			
Pt	0.27***	-0.57***	-0.49***		
CarerQol Tariff	0.57***	-0.39***	-0.56***	0.38***	
CarerQol-7D					
Fullfilment	0.30***	-0.25***	-0.17***	0.19***	0.52***
Relational problems	-0.41***	0.22***	0.38***	-0.24***	-0.61***
Mental health problems	-0.51***	0.33***	0.46***	-0.41***	-0.80***
Problems with daily activities	-0.31***	0.28***	0.47***	-0.30***	-0.52***
Financial problems	-0.24***	0.02	0.27***	-0.13*	-0.32***
Support	-0.05	0.00	-0.13**	0.03	0.17***
Physical health problems	-0.38***	0.33***	0.46***	-0.36***	-0.64***
N 1 *** . 0 01 ** . 0 0F *					

**Table 3** Pairwise Correlation CarerQol-VAS and CarerQol-7D with measures of subjective burden,(Spearman's rho; 2-tailed), n=185 for correlations between Perseverance time and other variables,n=223 for the other correlations

Note: \*\*\*p < 0.01, \*\*p < 0.05, \*p < 0.1

### Subjective burden measures on the basis of CarerQol-7D

**Table 4** presents models to explain CarerQoI-VAS, SRB, CSI and Pt, all on the basis of the CarerQoI-7D dimension scores. The CarerQoI-VAS model displayed that relational problems, financial problems and problems with mental health were negatively associated with the CarerQoI-VAS while fulfillment was positively related to CarerQoI-VAS. This model accounted for 38% of the variance in CarerQoI-VAS scores. The model explaining SRB showed that problems with daily activities and physical health problems were positively associated with caregiver burden, while fulfillment was negatively related to the SRB score and the model accounted for 18% of the variance in SRB. Relational problems, problems with daily activities, mental and physical health problems were positively while receiving support was negatively associated with CSI score. This model accounted for 40% of the variance in CSI. The model explaining Pt showed a negative association of mental health problems and problems with daily activities with the time period for which informal caregivers indicated they would be able to persevere with the care and the model accounted for 18% of the variance in Pt.

Table 4 Results of regression analysis of CarerQol-VAS, Self Rated Burden (SRB), Caregiver Strain
Index (CSI) and Preseverance time (Pt) with CarerQol-7D as independent variables; Standarized
coefficients for CarerQol-7D, n=185 for the model explaining Pt, n=223 for the other models

CarerQol-7D dimensions	CarerQol-VAS	SRB	CSI	Pt
Fullfilment	0.10*	-0.17***	0.02	0.03
Relational problems	-0.20***	0.04	0.20***	-0.06
Mental health problems	-0.32***	0.12	0.17**	-0.25***
Problems with daily activities	-0.08	0.17***	0,31***	-0.15**
Financial problems	-0.13**	-0.07	0.08	0.02
Support	0.01	0.00	-0.12**	0.02
Physical health problems	-0.08	0.19***	0.18***	-0.14
Constant	9.73	4.53	1.27	32.65
Adjusted R2	0.38	0.18	0.40	0.18
Adjusted R2	0.38	0.18	0.40	0.18

Note: \*\*\*p < 0.01, \*\*p < 0.05, \*p < 0.1

### Subgroups

Table 5 presents models to explain CarerQol-VAS scores among subgroups of carers on the basis of CarerQol-7D scores (see Appendix 2 for subgroups characteristics). In all subgroups, the happiness score of caregivers was negatively associated with the experience of relational and mental health problems. For the caregivers with high SRB score and those with high CSI score, the experience of satisfaction in caring for the dementia patient was positively related to happiness scores. Last, in the subgroups of carers with high SRB, high CSI and low Pt, a statistically significant negative association was notified between the CarerQol-7D dimension financial problems and happiness scores.

	All	Caregivers	Caregivers	Caregivers	Caregivers	Caregivers	Caregivers
	caregivers	with low	with high	with low	with high	with low Pt	with high Pt
	(n=223)	SRB (n=96)	SRB (n=127)	CSI (n=101)	CSI (n=122)	(n=71)	(n=152)
CarerQol-7D							
Fullfilment	0.10*	0.03	0.19**	0.07	0.13*	0.08	0.09
Relational problems	-0.20***	-0.20**	-0.20***	-0.17*	-0.21***	-0.26**	-0.18***
Mental Health problems	-0.32***	-0.39***	-0.24**	-0.30***	-0.33***	-0.43***	-0.32***
Problems with daily activities	-0.08	-0.09	-0.08	-0.06	-0.03	-0.15	-0.06
Financial problems	-0.13**	-0.11	-0.15**	0.09	-0.21***	-0.20**	-0.08
Support	0.01	-0.00	0.04	0.06	-0.05	0.10	-0.02
Physical health problems	-0.08	-0.17	-0.10	-0.10	-0.03	0.07	-0.13
Constant	9.73	7.99	7.16	7.52	7.42	8.01	7.60
Adjusted R2	0.38	0.37	0.35	0.14	0.36	0.45	0.29

Table 5 Results of regression analysis of CarerQoI-VAS, standarised coefficients (see Apendix 2) for subgroups

### **Clinical validity**

### **CarerQol-VAS score**

The mean CarerQol-VAS score was 6.3 (not presented). Further, concerning the bivariate relations **(Table 2)**, it seems that happiness level was higher among male caregivers, among those younger than 66 years and among caregivers with higher educational level. In addition, caregivers having children living at home appeared to be happier than those who did not. The CarerQol-VAS score was higher among caregivers who were sufficiently informed on possibilities for support and knew where to search for at start of their caring task. Higher CarerQol-VAS scores were also indicated when the health of the caregiver was valued higher than 7.0 (on a scale of 0-10), when they felt less burdened (CSI score < 8) and when their Pt was longer than 18 months.

Caregivers providing care to female demented patients, patients older than 81 years and those in relatively good health (>6.0 on a scale of 0-10) had significantly greater happiness score, as did those who provided care less than 38 hours per week and less than 5 days per week. Moreover, the score was highest among those caring for a distant family or friend, a divorced or widowed demented patient and lowest among those caring for their partner or a married demented patient. In cases where caregiver and care recipient shared the same household, the caregivers indicated a lower happiness scores than in cases where they lived apart. Concerning the provision of certain care activities, caregivers indicated a higher happiness score when they provided care for fewer hours per week than the mean value calculated in each category (i.e. ADL activities < 23 h/wk, personal care < 18 h/wk). Last, when use of professional home care was made by the dementia patient the CarerQol-VAS was higher for the carer.

The results of multivariate analysis between CarerQoI-VAS and background characteristics are presented in **Table 6**. These results were largely in agreement with the correlation coefficients presented in Table 3, with the exception of the CarerQoI-7D dimensions problems with combining daily activities and physical health problems. Moreover, secondary educational level, compared to higher education, seems to significantly decrease CarerQoI-VAS (p = 0.05). In addition, the CarerQoI-VAS was positively associated to the caregiver's subjective health and statistically significantly negatively associated to the intensity of care, in terms of days per week of caring (p= 0.04). Last, no use of professional home care seems to significantly decrease happiness score (p = 0.1), compared to the case whereby use of professional home care is made by the demented patient. Together all these variables explained 45% of the variation in the CarerQoI-VAS score.

	CarerQol-VAS	
	SD coef	P value
CarerQol-7D		
Fullfilment	0.14	0.01
Relational problems	-0.18	0.00
Mental health problems	-0.24	0.00
Problems with daily activities	-0.09	0.11
Financial problems	-0.14	0.01
Support	-0.02	0.73
Physical health problems	0.01	0.90
Caregiver		
Educational level (ref. College/university)		
None	0.03	0.54
Primary school	0.05	0.36
Secondary school	-0.12	0.05
Subjective health	0.21	0.00
Sufficient information on possibilities for	-0.08	0.13
Care situation		
Days p/wk care giving	-0.11	0.06
Practical support (h)	0.08	0.12
Use of professional home care (ref. yes)	-0.10	0.07
Constant	7.69	
Adjusted R2	0.45	

**Table 6** Results of multiple linear regression analysis of CarerQol-VAS withCarerQol-7D and characteristics of the caregiver, the care recipient and thecare situation; Standardized coefficients for all variables; n=223

### CarerQol-7D sum score

The mean CarerQoI-7D sum score was 71.63 (not presented). Further, concerning the bivariate relations **(Table 2)** between CarerQoI-7D sum score and background characteristics, CarerQoI-7D sum score emerged higher among male caregivers, among those younger than 66 years and among caregivers with higher educational level. In addition, for caregivers having children living at home a higher sum score was observed than those who did not. The CarerQoI-7D sum score was higher among caregivers who were sufficiently informed on possibilities for support and knew where to search for at start of their caring task. Higher CarerQoI-7D sum scores were also indicated when the health of the caregiver was valued higher than 7.0 (on a scale of 0-10), when they felt less burdened (CSI score < 8 and SRB < 6) and when their Pt was longer than 18 months.

Moreover, the CarerQoI-7D sum score was highest among caregivers providing care to female demented patients, those caring for a distant family or friend and caregivers of a divorced or widowed demented patient and lowest among those caring for their partner or a married demented patient. A higher sum score, indicating a better caregiving situation was also noticed for caregivers of patients in relatively good health (>6.0 on a scale of 0-10) and among those involved in situations with no or mild comorbidity while a lower sum score was observed when there was severe comorbidity. In cases where caregiver and care recipient shared the same household, the CarerQoI-7D sum score was lower than in cases where they lived apart. Concerning the total provision of care as well as that of certain care activities,

the sum score was higher when caregivers provided care for fewer hours per week than the mean value calculated in each category (i.e. total care < 38h/wk, ADL activities < 23 h/wk, personal care < 18 h/wk, practical support < 17h/wk ) and less than 5 days per week. Last, when use of professional home care was made by the dementia patient the CarerQol-7D sum score was higher, implying a better caregiving situation.

The results of multivariate analysis of CarerQoI-7D Tariff and background characteristics are presented in Table 7. These results indicated that the CarerQoI-7D sum score was positively associated to the caregiver's age and subjective health. Moreover, no knowledge on where to search for information in the beginning of the caregiving task significantly decreased CarerQol-7D sum score (p = 0.07), compared to the case whereby caregivers knew where to look for information. Compared to caring for a female person, caring for a male patient was associated with a 0.12 decrease on CarerQoI-7D sum score. In addition, caring for a partner, compared to caring for a distant family or just an acquaintance, significantly decreased CarerQol-7D sum score (p = 0.00) while caring for a patient living at his/her own home significantly increased CarerQoI-7D sum score compared to the case whereby the patient lived in a residential home (p = 0.04). Furthermore, care situations with severe comorbidity seemed to significantly decrease the CarerQol-7D sum score (p = 0.00) compared to cases with mild comorbidity. CarerQol-7D sum score was statistically significantly negatively associated with the intensity of provision practical support to the patient in terms of hours per week (p = 0.03) and last the use of private help in the household of the care recipient significantly decreased the CarerQol-7D sum score (p = 0.08) compared to no use. Together these characteristics explained 35% of the variation in the CarerQol-7D sum scores.

	CarerQol-7D Tariff	
	SD coef	P value
Caregiver		
Age	0.41	0.00
Partner Status(ref. Divorced)		
Unmarried	0.03	0.66
Married and/or living together	0.14	0.13
Widow(er)	-0.03	0.70
Subjective health	0.40	0.00
Knowledge on where to search for information		
in the beginning (ref.yes or a little)	-0.10	0.07
Care recipient		
Gender(ref.female)	-0.12	0.06
Relationship with caregiver(ref. other)		
Partner	-0.59	0.00
Parent (-in-law)	-0.11	0.47
Sister/brother(-in-law)	-0.07	0.30
Friend/neighbour	-0.02	0.76
Living situation(ref. residential home)	0.12	0.04
Continuous surveilllance( ref.no)	0.08	0.13
Severeness of comorbidity(ref.mild)		
no	-0.03	0.69
moderate	-0.12	0.12
severe	-0.26	0.00
Health (rated by caregiver)	-0.12	0.11
Care situation		
Practical support (h)	-0.13	0.03
Day care outside home (ref.no)	0.08	0.17
Private help in household of recipient(ref.no)	-0.10	0.08
Constant	18.66	
Adjusted R2	0.35	

**Table 7** Results of multiple linear regression analysis of CarerQol-7D Tariff with<br/>characteristics of the caregiver, the care recipient and the care situation;Standardized coefficients for all variables; n=223

## **Discussion**

There is increasing consensus that economic assessments of health care technologies should comprise the impact of caregiving on the informal caregivers whenever informal care constitutes a substantial part of the total care a patient receives, so as to formulate optimal policy decisions (1, 3, 16). The CarerQol has been considered in the past to be a promising instrument to measure and value those carers outcomes enhancing the consideration of informal care in economic evaluation studies (15, 49, 56). Dementia syndrome is a disease in the context of which informal care plays a substantial role (6, 22) and often causes a great burden on carers (23, 24, 25). Our study investigated the convergent and clinical validity of this instrument in a population of 223 dementia caregivers.

Our results showed that dementia caregivers often reported relational problems with the care recipient, problems with their own mental health and problems with combining daily activities. The presence of relational problems can be partially explained by the nature of the dementia syndrome. That is, the combination of cognitive, behavioral and emotional problems that comes with the illness makes the communication with and the care of demented persons quite difficult. The often reported problems with combining daily activities are reasonably explained by the relatively high level of care dependency observed among the patients of our sample and the fact that the majority of the caregivers did not use some kind of professional home care or private help in the household that could possibly free more time for other daily tasks. Hoefman et al reported comparable results concerning the problems experienced by caregivers of LTC users (56). This is well justified by similarities in the population samples of the two studies; a large proportion of the patients in the Hoefman's sample were suffering from mental health problems including Alzheimer's disease and had need for permanent surveillance. In addition, the use of either formal or informal support from other persons, were made only by a small proportion of caregivers. The two first validation studies of the instrument (15, 49) which used heterogeneous samples of caregivers, reported also often experienced problems with combining daily activities and mental health problems by the caregivers which is reasonable given the intensity and duration of care. However, the experience of relational problems with the patient was relatively less often reported, possibly due to the minor or zero proportion of care recipients with mental illnesses.

Further, we assumed that given the unique and extreme challenges of dementia caregiving, dementia caregivers would probably indicate a relatively lower level of happiness compared to non-dementia caregivers. By comparing the average level of happiness among the dementia informal caregivers with that reported among caregivers in the previous studies of the instrument, the results were varied. As we expected, the average score of happiness in our sample (6.3) was lower than that reported by Hoefman et al (7.0) (56). This is a reasonable result since caregivers of demented patients were more involved in caregiving in terms of hours per week and were affected more negatively from their caregiving duties than the caregivers of LTC users (56). However, the reverse was observed when we looked at the average happiness score among a heterogeneous population of caregivers reported by Brouwer et al (5.7) (15). Although the care recipients in Brouwer's study were not suffering from dementia, they were in relatively worse health than those in our sample. The population of caregivers was selected through support centers for informal care which entails that they were relatively burdened. Moreover, they were more involved in caregiving in terms of duration and intensity of care than the caregivers in our sample and a relatively large proportion of them cared for people who did not make use of professional home care or day care outside of the household.

### **Convergent validity**

As anticipated, the CarerQol-VAS was negatively associated with SRB, CSI and the negative dimensions of the CarerQol-7D, and positively with Pt and the positive dimensions of the CarerQol-7D. Most of these correlations had moderate strength, although the dimension support was not statistically significantly related to CarerQol-VAS which is in line with the results of previous studies (15, 49, 56). Such an observation may imply that this dimension is less relevant in the context of informal caregiving or that support is indirectly covered by the

other CarerQoI-7D dimensions. This could be considered as an indication of low content validity which requires further investigation in the future. Supportive to this conclusion is the also non-statistically significant relation of the dimension support with the less broad subjective burden measures, SRB and Pt.

Moreover, we found evidence for the validity of the CarerQol-7D. That is, the negative items of CarerQol-7D were negatively associated to Pt and positively to SRB and CSI, while the reverse was true for the positive items of CarerQol-7D. Most of these correlations had moderate strength. An exception was the positive correlation between the dimension support and the subjective burden measure SRB, though not statistically significant. Our results are in line with our hypothesis of a positive relation between CareQol-7D and other subjective burden instruments, in terms of the burden measured and almost identical to those reported by Brouwer et al and Hoefman et al (15, 49, 56).

The convergent validation of the CarerQol-7D was also established by the fact that the CarerQol-7D dimensions significantly explained the difference in CarerQol-VAS scores among the whole sample of caregivers and subgroups. Specifically, the experience of relational problems, mental health problems and financial problems by the caregiver were negatively associated with the CarerQol-VAS score while fulfillment was positively associated and all these dimensions together explained 38% of the variance in CarerQol-VAS score. Concerning the subgroup analysis, CarerQol-VAS was negatively associated with financial problems among the most burdened carers (i.e., those with high CSI, high SRB and those with low Pt). In addition, the level of happiness was positively associated with fulfillment among the highly burdened carers (i.e., those with high SRB and those with high CSI) contrary to the results reported by Hoefman (49). In the second test of the instrument, this statistically significant positive association was observed among the lower burdened caregivers (49). The divergent results may be due to the difference in the sample populations of the two studies or the different models used to investigate if CarerQol discriminated well between the different groups of carers. More specifically, Hoefman used a heterogeneous population of caregivers while our study was performed using a specific population of caregivers (e.g. carers of persons with a specific disease). Moreover, Hoefman's model, besides the CarerQol-7D dimensions, included additional variables describing background informal care characteristics as explanatory variables contrary to our model.

Another possible explanation for our results could be the following. In our sample, the majority of caregivers provided care to their demented partner which is indicative of a strong emotional relationship between the two. As established in the theoretical review on informal care, the provision of the best attainable care to a loved person gives meaning to caregiver's life and raise feelings of fulfillment (11, 12). Moreover, dementia is a progressive and irreversible clinical syndrome ending to death and thus it is possible that caregivers with high SRB and those with high CSI care for a relative, timely closer to death. This assumption is also supported by the relatively worse health of the care recipients in these subgroups of carers compared to those receiving care from less burden carers in our sample. The feeling that the life of a loved person approaches the end may encourage caregivers' perception that the experience of greater burden from caring is the only and last sacrifice they can do for their loved relative. This may explain why the positive association between satisfaction from caring and happiness score is statistically significant among high burdened carers compared to the same relation observed among less burdened caregivers. Another

supportive item to this point is that about half of the caregivers experienced high SRB(48%) and those experienced high CSI (45%), judged themselves able to cope with the informal care for longer than two years. That is, despite the high burden experienced by these caregivers, they indicated a relatively high Pt, possibly motivated by the fulfillment they receive from caring.

Additionally, given that happiness is a broad outcome measure and hence it may be influenced by elements not necessarily related to caregiving, we related CarerQol-7D to more specific outcome measures than CarerQol-VAS so as to correct for this. We observed that CarerQol-7D explained the variation in CarerQol-VAS and the less broad outcome measures of SRB, CSI and Pt not equally well. That is, the explained variance of CSI by CarerQol-7D was higher than that of CarerQol-VAS which is a reasonable result, given the broad concept of happiness. However, the reverse was noticed for the explained variance of SRB and Pt by the CarerQol-7D. Though advantageous for the CarerQol instrument, this was an unexpected result for the same reason.

Generally, given the explained variance 38%, 18%, 40% and 18% respectively, all outcome measures were not fully explained by the CarerQol-7D. Hoefman et al who reported similar results suggested the investigation of a more targeted valuation component such as care-related quality of life to measure and value the impact of informal care so as to avoid too much influence of non-care giving related items (49). Such a component is the new part of the instrument, the CarerQol-7D sum score. By examining the associations between CarerQol-7D sum score and the other subjective burden measures they emerged stronger than the associations observed between CarerQol-7D dimensions and the subjective burden measures adding to the usefulness of the CarerQol-7D sum score. Although, these are signs of good convergent validity, replication of our results using a different study population, either caregivers of people suffering from another disease or a heterogeneous population of carers, would enable us to derive more firm conclusions on the validity of this new component.

Overall, our results suggest that the CarerQol-instrument displays moderate, though not unsatisfactory, convergent validity given that happiness is a broad outcome measure. However, given the contradictory evidence above concerning the validity of CarerQol-7D (e.g. how well CarerQol-7D explains the variation in the scores derive from the subjective burden measures) and our findings regarding the convergent validity of CarerQol-7D sum score, it would be worthwhile to replicate our results in the future using a different study population so as to further examine the validity of the instrument.

### **Clinical validity**

Concerning clinical validation, the bivariate relations assessed between CarerQol-VAS score and background characteristics, verified most of the assumptions we did in the beginning of our research based on the literature concerning dementia caregiving. Specifically, female caregivers and those with worse health status indicated lower happiness score and higher experienced burden. However, contrary to the theory, our study showed that younger caregivers were less burdened which may be partially explained by the relatively lower proportion of those caregivers in our sample.

Moreover, differences in CarerQol-VAS scores were observed in relevant subgroups of carers. Especially, caregivers' characteristics and caregiving situation characteristics affected the happiness among caregivers of dementia patients. Specifically, the educational level and subjective health of the caregiver, the duration of care giving and the use of professional home care by the care recipient were significantly associated with CarerQol-VAS. Brouwer et al (15) and Hoefman et al (56) showed comparable results. In addition, they found other factors related to happiness: age and partner status of the caregiver and the use of day care by the care recipient. However, their models differed somewhat from ours in terms of the explanatory variables included. In general, as was the case in our study, these previous studies also reported a relatively modest role of care recipient characteristics on caregiver burden.

Exploratory analyses concerning the clinical validity of CarerQol-7D Tariff showed results largely in agreement with the bivariate relations assessed between CarerQol-VAS score and informal care characteristics. Moreover, differences in three additional background characteristics of informal care were reflected on differences in the mean CarerQol-7D sum score; That is, CarerQol-7D sum score emerged higher among caregivers with lower SRB score, among those who provided practical support for fewer hours per week and in cases where comorbidity was absent, indicating a better caregiving situation.

The multivariate model explaining the CarerQol-7D sum score on the basis of background characteristics of informal care showed more characteristics to be statistically significantly associated with CarerQol-7D Tariff, than those explaining the variance in CarerQol-VAS scores. More specifically, the only statistically significant background characteristic in common in the two models was the subjective health of the caregiver. In addition, contrary to the CarerQol-VAS model besides caregiver and care situation characteristics, care recipient characteristics (gender, relationship with caregiver, living situation, need for continuous surveillance and severeness of comorbidity) had also a statistically significant effect on CarerQol-7D sum score. These findings may suggest that CarerQol-7D sum score is a more informative outcome measure in terms of what elements affect the burden experienced from the provision of informal care, also in light of its more targeted nature compared to CarerQol-VAS (e.g. care-related quality of life of caregiver vs well-being of the caregiver). Despite the good properties indicated, further validation study on the CarerQol-7D sum score would be desirable in the future. Specifically, it might be worthwhile to test validity among a heterogeneous population of carers or among caregivers of people suffering from another disease so as to investigate possible similarities or differences in the results given the different population characteristics.

#### **Study Limitations**

Our sample of caregivers was of modest size and consisted only of caregivers of dementia patients. Thus, our results should be interpreted with caution; they cannot be straightforwardly generalized since our sample is not necessarily representative of the

population of Dutch informal caregivers. Moreover, our sample cannot be considered representative even of the population of dementia caregivers in the Netherlands since it included carers of demented patients living at home, omitting the population of caregivers of institutionalized demented patients.

The interpretation and generalization of our results requires caution also because of the response rate of 37%. Although, this response rate was slightly higher than in previous studies based on postal surveys (14, 56, 68), the non-response was still substantial and likely selective. For example, caregivers experiencing especially high burden may not had the time or energy to complete the questionnaire (57). Moreover, some of them might not see direct relevance for their own tough caregiving task so as to participate in the research. It is also possible that they did not feel addressed by the questionnaire in that they do not perceive themselves as caregivers but they considered their provision of care as a natural consequence of their relationship with the patient (15, 57).

Another issue worth mentioning is that of missing values for the variable perseverance time. Missing data is a common problem in medical research and the method used for handling it depending on the reason for missingness, may affect the validity of the results (69). In our case, 38 of the 223 respondents did not give an indication of the time period they judge themselves able to continue with the provision of informal care (Pt). We could not further investigate the reason for missingness, we assumed that the data were missing completely at random or due to some unobserved characteristics of the respondents (i.e. misunderstanding of the question or personal choice of non-response) and we carried out a complete-case analysis by simply excluding the cases with missing values. Hence, our results may suffer from bias since part of the data was not used.

Since we used the CarerQol instrument to register the impact of informal care, some aspects of the instrument should also be discussed. Initially, as mentioned in the introduction section, the CarerQol-VAS is a broad outcome measure which may be affected by non-caregiving factors. To correct for this it would be helpful to know the determinants of happiness. A review of the literature devoted to the factors that influence subjective wellbeing has highlighted a series of problems in deriving firm conclusions about what causes happiness (70). The lack of a gold standard in this direction renders our results (regarding the happiness scores observed) possible over- or underestimations of the experienced burden. Hence, we comprised the more specific subjective burden measures SRB, CSI and Pt to assess the informal caregiving situation and all three scores were statistically significantly related to CarerQol-VAS scores. Specifically, the CSI score was relatively strongly related to happiness score while the other two measures appeared to have a relation of small strength with CarerQol-VAS.

Furthermore, although there is not strong and concise evidence on which are the causal factors of subjective wellbeing, findings from previous research suggest that researchers should be at least aware of the impact of income and mainly relative income, the employment status, the health status, the marital status and the personal and community relationships of people at interest (70). A limitation of our study, therefore, should be

considered the lack of information on the level of income and the employment status of caregivers, which would enable us to correct for possible influences on the happiness score.

In previous studies of the CarerQol-instrument, it has been repeatedly reported that a more targeted valuation component with a more objective outcome measure such as care-related quality of life, would be of great usefulness since it would be less sensitive to non-caregiving elements and hence it would increase the use of the instrument in economic evaluations (15, 49, 56). More precisely, standard utility scores i.e. tariffs for 'care states' defined by the CarerQol-7D would prevent the influence of other dimensions of wellbeing in that the scores would relate to caregiving only. Our study was the first to include the new component of CarerQol, the CarerQol-7D Tariff, in the investigation of the clinical and convergent validity of the instrument. Indeed, the CarerQol-7D Tariff had a higher correlation to the less broad outcome measures SRB, CSI and Pt than CarerQol-VAS did, verifying the hypotheses around the more targeted nature of this component.

In addition, coping and adaptation may have influenced the resulted CarerQol-VAS scores by underestimating the wellbeing losses because of caring for a demented patient. Studies focusing on the responses of caregivers of people suffering from cognitive impairments have revealed that carers use a range of coping strategies so as to manage the often challenging and stressful caregiving situation, to relief the emotional impact on them and to maintain their mental health (71, 72). People, in general, tend to adapt to difficult circumstances which include either their own health, the health of a close relative or a strenuous and demanding caregiving situation (16). The phenomenon of coping and adaptation, therefore, adds to the usefulness of ex ante utility scores assigned to different 'care profiles' and which preferably derive from the general public i.e. the CarerQol-7D Tariff.

Finally, the cross sectional design of the study, although appropriate for the aims of our research, did not enable the investigation of causality issues between the variables and hence nor the sensitivity of the CarerQol to changes in the caregiving situation over time. Thus, future research should focus on longitudinal analysis that would give us a better insight on the validity of the instrument.

### **Conclusion**

Notwithstanding the study limitations, our results recommend that the CarerQol-instrument has moderate to good psychometric properties, which is in agreement with previous research (15, 49, 56). The same applies for the new valuation component of the instrument, the validity of which was tested for first time and thus should be further investigated in the future. Overall, the CarerQol-instrument adequately reflects the care-related quality of life and provides a good description of the impact of informal care on the dementia caregivers. Therefore, it seems to be a useful tool to measure and value the effect of caregiving on these special providers of care and it can facilitate an improved consideration of this impact in economic evaluations of health care.

# Appendix 1

See Table 8.

### Table 8

Model 1 Results of regression analysis of CarerQoI-VAS;Model 2 Results of regression analysis of CarerQoI-VAS;Standardized coefficients for CarerQoI-7DStandardized coefficients for CarerQoI-7D(continuous variables)n=230(categorical variables)n=230

CarerQol-7D dimensions	CarerQol-VAS				
	SD coef	P value			
Fullfilment	0.10	0.07			
Relational problems	-0.20	0.00			
Mental Health problems	-0.32	0.00			
Problems with daily activities	-0.08	0.14			
Financial problems	-0.13	0.02			
Support	0.01	0.90			
Physical health problems	-0.08	0.21			
Constant	9.73				
Adjusted R2	0.38				

Likelihood-ratio test (Assumption: m1 nested in m2) LR chi2(7) = 9.63 Prob > chi2 = 0.2107

(categorical variables), n=230		
CarerQol-7D dimensions	CarerQol-VAS	
	SD coef	P value
Some Fullfilment	0.03	0.55
A lot Fullfilment	0.05	0.34
Some Relational problems	-0.07	0.27
A lot Relational problems	-0.25	0.00
Some Mental Health problems	-0.11	0.09
A lot Mental Health problems	-0.39	0.00
Some Problems with daily activities	-0.06	0.32
A lot Problems with daily activities	-0.10	0.13
Some Financial problems	-0.05	0.31
A lot Financial problems	-0.09	0.12
Some Support	-0.02	0.77
A lot Support	0.02	0.74
Some Physical health problems	-0.03	0.62
A lot Physical health problems	-0.09	0.21
Constant	7.45	
Adjusted R2	0.38	

## Appendix 2

See Table 9.

 Table 9 Percentages or mean(SD) of variables for subgroups in table 3

	Caregivers with low SRB (n=96)	Caregivers with high SRB (n=127)	Caregivers with low CSI (n=101)	Caregivers with high CSI (n=122)	Caregivers with low Pt (n=71)
CarerQol-7D					
Fullfilment (%)					
No	5.2	17.3	6.9	16.4	21.1
				39	

Some	52.1	56.7	54.5	54.9	52.1
A lot	42.7	26.0	38.6	28.7	26.8
Relational problems (%)					
No	31.3	26.0	43.6	15.6	21.1
Some	53.1	44.1	43.6	51.6	42.3
A lot	15.6	29.9	12.8	32.8	36.6
Mental health problems (%)					
No	46.9	21.2	49.5	18.0	14.1
Some	38.5	52.8	40.6	51.6	49.3
A lot	14.6	26.0	9.9	30.4	36.6
Problems with daily activities (%)					
No	39.6	21.2	44.5	16.4	15.5
Some	44.8	58.3	50.5	54.1	57.7
A lot	15.6	20.5	5.0	29.5	26.8
Financial Problems (%)					
No	90.6	89.8	95.0	86.1	90.2
Some	8.3	5.5	5.0	8.2	5.6
A lot	1.1	4.7	0.0	5.7	4.2
Support (%)					
No	15.6	18.1	13.9	19.7	12.7
Some	56.3	60.6	54.4	62.3	64.8
A lot	28.1	21.3	31.7	18.0	22.5
Physical health problems (%)					
No	57.3	33.9	64.3	27.0	28.2
Some	33.3	41.7	29.7	45.1	45.0
A lot	9.4	24.4	6.0	27.9	26.8
Caregiver					
Age	65.60 (14.31)	67 (12.77)	62.74 (13.74)	69.43 (12.45)	68.28 (13.54)
Gender (%)					
Female	56.3	72.4	56.4	72.9	73.2
Male	43.7	27.6	43.6	27.1	76.8
Educational level (%)					
None or Primary school	8.3	15.7	6.0	18.0	22.5
Secondary school	62.5	56.0	56.4	60.7	49.3
College/university	29.2	28.3	37.6	21.3	28.2
Partner Status (%)					
Unmarried	9.4	5.5	5.0	9.0	7.0
Married and/or living together	85.4	82.7	85.1	82.8	80.3
Widow(er)	1.0	5.5	3.0	4.1	4.2
Divorced	4.2	6.3	6.9	4.1	8.5
Children under 18 years old in household (%)					
No	84.4	92.1	79.2	96.7	91.5
Yes	15.6	7.9	20.8	3.3	8.5

Subjective health	7.48 (1.57)	7.09 (1.60)	7.84 (1.24)	6.78 (1.70)	6.82 (1.79)
Sufficient information on possibilities for support (%)					
No	13.5	10.2	11.9	11.5	12.7
Yes	86.5	89.8	88.1	88.5	87.3
Knowledge on where to search for information in the beginning (%)					
No	37.5	40.2	37.6	40.2	43.7
Yes	62.5	59.8	62.4	59.8	56.3
Care recipient					
Age	81.00 (6.43)	81.35 (6.99)	82.88 (5.69)	79.81 (7.24)	81.82 (6.65)
Gender (%)					
Female	60.4	48.8	65.4	44.3	49.3
Male	39.6	51.2	34.6	55.7	50.7
Partner status (%)					
Unmarried	3.1	0.8	3.0	0.8	1.4
Married and/or living together	57.3	66.1	43.5	77.9	66.2
Widow(er)	37.5	30.7	50.5	19.7	31.0
Divorced	2.1	2.4	3.0	1.6	1.4
Relationship with caregiver (%)					
Partner	49.0	58.2	32.6	72.2	62.0
Parent (-in-law)	40.6	37.0	54.5	25.4	31.0
Sister/brother(-in-law)	2.1	0.8	2.0	0.8	0.0
Friend/neighbour	3.1	1.6	4.0	0.8	4.2
Other	5.2	2.4	6.9	0.8	2.8
Living situation (%)					
Own home	87.5	91.3	87.1	91.8	90.1
Nursing home, non psyco-geriatric	12.5	8.7	12.9	8.2	9.9
Continuous surveillance (%)					
No	19.8	24.4	87.1	69.7	73.2
Yes	80.2	75.6	12.9	30.3	26.8
Comorbidity (%)					
No	26.0	18.9	23.8	20.5	21.1
Yes	74.0	81.1	76.2	79.5	78.9
Severeness of Comorbidity (%)					
no	26.0	18.9	23.8	20.5	21.1
mild	24.0	16.5	25.7	14.7	15.5
moderate	37.5	39.4	35.6	41.0	40.9
severe	12.5	25.2	14.9	23.8	22.5
Health (rated by caregiver)	6.02 (1.72)	5.61 (1.93)	6.05 (1.73)	5.57 (1.93)	5.51 (2.01)
Care dependency	6.35 (2.35)	7.48 (2.31)	6.45 (2.17)	7.44 (2.47)	7.32 (2.49)
Care situation				- ·	. ,
Years of Caregiving	2.17 (1.54)	2.66 (1.51)	2.22 (1.50)	2.64 (1.55)	2.58 (1.44)
Days p/wk care giving	4.20 (3.04)	5.18 (2.48)	3.32 (2.90)	5.95 (2.00)	5.44 (2.41)
Hours p/wk care giving	31.02 (39.27)	42.68 (41.57)	11.01 (25.45)	33.5 (44.72)	20.45 (32.16)
			-	41	

Care recipient shares household (%)							
No	46.9	39.4	65.3	23.8	35.2		
Yes	53.1	60.6	34.7	76.2	64.8		
Support from other informal caregivers (%)							
No	47.9	46.5	46.5	47.5	42.2		
Yes	52.1	53.5	53.5	52.5	57.8		
Use of professional Home care (%)							
No	54.2	55.9	42.6	65.6	59.2		
Yes	45.8	44.1	57.4	34.4	40.8		
Use of day care (%)							
No	43.7	33.1	41.6	34.4	42.3		
Yes	56.3	66.9	58.4	65.6	57.7		
Private help in household of care recipient (%)							
No	70.8	70.9	71.3	70.5	66.2		
Yes	29.2	29.1	28.7	29.5	33.8		

## **References**

- 1. Brouwer, W.B., N.J. van Exel, M.A. Koopmanschap and F.F. Rutten (1999) 'The Valuation of Informal Care in Economic Appraisal. A Consideration of Individual Choice and Societal Costs of Time', *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care* 15(1): 147.
- Triantafillou, J., M. Naiditch, K. Řepkova, K. Stiehr, S. Carretero, T. Emilsson, P. Di Santo, R. Bednarik, L. Brichtova, F. Ceruzzi, L. Cordero, T. Mastroyiannakis, M. Ferrando, K. Mingot, J. Ritter and D. Vlantoni (2010) 'Informal Care in the Long-Term Care System. European Overview Paper', No. 223037, pp. 1-67. Athens/Vienna: INTERLINKS
- Koopmanschap, M.A., N.J.A. van Exel, B. van den Berg and W.B.F. Brouwer (2008) 'An Overview of Methods and Applications to Value Informal Care in Economic Evaluations of Healthcare', *PharmacoEconomics* 26(4): 269.
- 4. Visser-Jansen, G. and C.P.M. Knipscheer (2004) 'Services for Supporting Family Carers of Elderly People in Europe: Characteristics, Coverage and Usage. National Background Report for the Netherlands', pp. 1-76.
- Brouwer, W.B.F., N.J.A. van Exel, B. van de Berg, H.J. Dinant, M.A. Koopmanschap and G.A.M. van den Bos (2004) 'Burden of Caregiving: Evidence of Objective Burden, Subjective Burden, and Quality of Life Impacts on Informal Caregivers of Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis', *Arthritis & Rheumatism* 51(4): 570-577.
- Schulz, R. and M.L. Martire (2004) 'Family Caregiving of Persons with Dementia: Prevalence, Health Effects, and Support Strategies ', American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry 12(3): 240-249.
- 7. Oudijk, D., A. de Boer, I. Woittiez, J. Timmermans and M. de Klerk (2010) 'In the Spotlight: Informal Care in the Netherlands'The Hague: SCP.
- Schulz, R. and S. Beach (1999) 'Care Giving as a Risk Factor for Mortality: The Caregiver Health Effects Study. ', JAMA 282(23): 2215-2219.
- 9. López, J., J. López-Arrieta and M. Crespo (2005) 'Factors Associated with the Positive Impact of Caring for Elderly and Dependent Relatives', *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics* 41(1): 81-94.

- Wittenberg, Y., M.H. Kwekkeboom and A.H. de Boer (2012) 'Special Informal Care: Experiences of Informal Carers of People with an Intellectual Disability Or Psychiatric Disorder', pp. 159-165The Hague: SCP.
- Carbonneau, H., J. Desrosiers and C. Caron (2010) 'Development of a Conceptual Framework of Positive Aspects of Caregiving in Dementia', *Dementia* 9(3): 327-353.
- 12. Andrén, S. and S. Elmståhl (2005) 'Family Caregivers' Subjective Experiences of Satisfaction in Dementia Care: Aspects of Burden, Subjective Health and Sense of Coherence', *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences* 19(2): 157-168.
- Broese van Groenou, M., & De Boer, A. (2009). Findings: Positive experiences. In A. De Boer, M. Broese, J. van Groenou, & J. Timmermans (Eds.), Informal care. An overview of the support given by and to informal carers in 2007 (pp. 167–183). The Hague: SCP.
- Brouwer, W.B.F., N.J.A. van Exel, B. van den Berg, van den Bos,Geertruidis A M. and M.A. Koopmanschap (2005) 'Process Utility from Providing Informal Care: The Benefit of Caring', *Health policy (Amsterdam, Netherlands)* 74(1): 85-99.
- Brouwer, W.B.F., N.J.A. van Exel, B. van Gorp and W.K. Redekop (2006) 'The CarerQol Instrument: A New Instrument to Measure Care-Related Quality of Life of Informal Caregivers for use in Economic Evaluations', *Quality of Life Research* 15(6): 1005-1021.
- 16. Bobinac, A., N.J. Van Exel, F.F. Rutten and W.B. Brouwer (2010) 'Caring for and Caring about: Disentangling the Caregiver Effect and the Family Effect', *Journal of health economics* 29: 549-556.
- 17. Bobinac, A., N. van Exel, F.F.H. Rutten and W.B.F. Brouwer (2011) 'Health Effects in Significant Others', Medical Decision Making 31(2): 292-298.
- Koopmanschap, M., N. Van Exel, G. Van den Bos, B. Van den Berg and W.B.F. Brouwer (2004) 'The Desire for Support and Respite Care: Preferences of Dutch Informal Caregivers', *Health Policy* 68(3): 309-320.
- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence and Social Care Institute for Excellence (2006) 'NICE SCIE Guideline to Improve Care of People with Dementia', No. 052, pp. 1-4NICE, SCIE.
- 20. Wortmann, M., S. Saxena and M. Prince (2012) 'Dementia Cases may Triple by 2050 as World Ages'World Health Organization and Alzheimer's Disease International.
- Kraijo, H., W. Brouwer, R. de Leeuw, G. Schrijvers and J. Van Exel (2012) 'Coping with Caring: Profiles of Caregiving by Informal Carers Living with a Loved One Who has Dementia', *Dementia* 11(1):113-130.
- 22. Pot, A.M., D.J. Deeg and C.P. Knipscheer (2001) 'Institutionalization of Demented Elderly: The Role of Caregiver Characteristics', *International journal of geriatric psychiatry* 16(3): 273-280.
- Martire, M.L. and M. Hall (2002) 'Dementia Caregiving: Recent Research on Negative Health Effects and the Efficacy of Caregiver Interventions', CNS Spectrums 7(11): 791-796.
- Ory, M.G., 3. Hoffman R R., J.L. Yee, S. Tennstedt and R. Schulz (1999) 'Prevalence and Impact of Caregiving: A Detailed Comparison between Dementia and Nondementia Caregivers', *The Gerontologist* 39(2): 177-186.
- 25. Li, H. (2012) 'Unmet Service Needs: A Comparison between Dementia and Non-Dementia Caregivers', *Home health care services quarterly* 31(1): 41.
- 26. Brazier, J. (2007) *Measuring and Valuing Health Benefits for Economic Evaluation: John Brazier ... [Et Al.].* Oxford [etc.]: Oxford University Press.
- 27. Drummond, M.F. (2005) *Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes: Michael F. Drummond ... [Et Al.].* Oxford [etc.]: Oxford University Press.
- 28. Bobinac, A., N.J. Van Exel, F.F. Rutten and W.B. Brouwer(2011)'Economic evaluations of health technologies: insights into the measurement and valuation of benefits' Doctoral dissertation.
- 29. Gold, M.R. (1996) *Cost-Effectiveness in Health and Medicine: Ed. by Marthe R. Gold ... [Et Al.].* New York [etc.]: Oxford University Press.
- 30. Wolfs, C.A.G. (2007) 'An Integrated Approach to Dementia: A Clinical and Economic Evaluation', Maastricht: University Library, Universiteit Maastricht [host].
- 31. Van Exel, J., A. Bobinac, M. Koopmanschap and W. Brouwer (2008a) 'The Invisible Hands made Visible: Recognizing the Value of Informal Care in Healthcare.

Decision-Making', *Expert review of pharmacoeconomics* & *outcomes research* 8(6): 557-561.

- 32. Oyebode, J. (2003) 'Assessment of Carers' Psychological Needs', *Advances in Psychiatric Treatment* 9(1): 45-53.
- 33. Basu, A. and D. Meltzer (2005) 'Implications of Spillover Effects within the Family for Medical Cost-Effectiveness Analysis', *Journal of health economics* 24(4): 751.
- 34. van den Berg, B. and M.A. Koopmanschap (2004) 'Economic Valuation of Informal Care: An Overview of Methods and Applications', *The European Journal of Health Economics* 5(1): 36-45.
- 35. Robinson, B.C. (1983) 'Validation of a Caregiver Strain Index', *Journal of gerontology* 38(3): 344-48.
- Given, C.W., B. Given, M. Stommel, C. Collins, S. King and S. Franklin (1992) 'The Caregiver Reaction Assessment (CRA) for Caregivers to Persons with Chronic Physical and Mental Impairments', *Research in nursing & health* 15(4): 271-283.
- Vernooij-Dassen, M.J.F.J., J.M.G. Persoon and A.J.A. Felling (1996) 'Predictors of Sense of Competence in Caregivers of Demented Persons', *Social science & medicine* 43(1): 41-49.
- 38. Brouwer, W.B.F. (2010) Incorporating Caregiver and Family Effects in Economic Evaluations of Child Health: Werner B.F. Brouwer ...[Et Al.]. Oxford University Press.
- 39. Van den Berg, B., W. Brouwer, J. van Exel, M. Koopmanschap, G.A.M. van den Bos and F. Rutten (2006) 'Economic Valuation of Informal Care: Lessons from the Application of the Opportunity Costs and Proxy Good Methods', *Social science & medicine* 62(4): 835-845.
- 40. Van denBerg, B., W. Brouwer, J.v. Exel and M. Koopmanschap (2005) 'Economic Valuation of Informal Care: The Contingent Valuation Method Applied to Informal Caregiving', *Health Economics* 14(2): 169-183.
- 41. N J A van Exel, W B F Brouwer, B van den Berg and M A Koopmanschap (2006) 'With a Little Help from an Anchor: Discussion and Evidence of Anchoring Effects in Contingent Valuation', *Journal of Socio - Economics* 35(5): 836.
- 42. Van den Berg, B., H. Bleichrodt and L. Eeckhoudt (2005) 'The Economic Value of Informal Care: A Study of Informal Caregivers' and Patients' Willingness to Pay and Willingness to Accept for Informal Care', *Health Economics* 14(4): 363-376.
- 43. de Meijer, C., W. Brouwer, M. Koopmanschap, B. van den Berg and J. van Exel (2010) 'The Value of Informal Care--a further Investigation of the Feasibility of Contingent Valuation in Informal Caregivers', *Health Economics* 19(7): 755-771.
- 44. van den Berg, B., M. Al, J. van Exel, M. Koopmanschap and W. Brouwer (2008) 'Economic Valuation of Informal Care: Conjoint Analysis Applied in a Heterogeneous Population of Informal Caregivers', Value in Health 11(7): 1041-1050.
- 45. 'EuroQol a New Facility for the Measurement of Health-Related Quality of Life'(1990) , *Health policy* 16(3): 199-208.
- 46. Al-Janabi, H., J. Coast and T.N. Flynn (2008) 'What do People Value when they Provide Unpaid Care for an Older Person? A Meta-Ethnography with Interview Follow-Up', *Social science & medicine (1982)* 67(1): 111-121.
- 47. Al-Janabi, H., T.N. Flynn and J. Coast (2011) 'Estimation of a Preference-Based Carer Experience Scale', *Medical decision making: an international journal of the Society for Medical Decision Making* 31(3): 458-468.
- 48. Hoefman, R.J., N.J.A. Van Exel, J.M. Rose, E.J. Lawerman-van de Wetering and W.B.F. Brouwer (2012) 'A Discrete Choice Experiment to Elicit Tariffs for the CarerQol-Instrument', working paper.
- 49. Hoefman, R.J., N.J.A. van Exel, S. Looren de Jong, W.K. Redekop and W.B.F. Brouwer (2011) 'A New Test of the Construct Validity of the CarerQol Instrument: Measuring the Impact of Informal Care Giving', *Quality of life research: an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation* 20(6): 875-887.
- 50. Norman, G.R. and D.L. Streiner (2003) *Health Measurement Scales: David L. Streiner and Geoffrey R. Norman.* Oxford [etc.]: Oxford University Press.
- 51. Joppe, M. (2000). The Research Process. Retrieved February 25, 1998, from http://www.ryerson.ca/~mjoppe/rp.htm
- 52. Kirk, J. and M.L. Miller (1986) *Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research: Jerome Kirk, Marc L. Miller.* Vol. 1. Beverly Hills, CA [etc.]: Sage.

- 53. Charles, C.M. (1998) *Introduction to Educational Research. Third Edition.* Addison Wesley Longman, Inc.
- 54. Wainer, H., 1949 and Educational Testing Service (1988) 'Test validity: ed. by Howard Wainer, Henry I. Braun', Erlbaum.
- 55. Van Den Berg, B., L.H Hastrup and D. Gyrd-Hansen (2011) 'Do Informal Caregivers In Mental Illness Feel More Burdened? A Comparative Study Of Mental Versus Somatic Illness', *Scandinavian Journal Of Public Health* 39(6): 598-607.
- 56. Hoefman, R.J., N.J.A. van Exel, M. Foets and W.B.F. Brouwer (2011) 'Sustained Informal Care: The Feasibility, Construct Validity and Test-Retest Reliability of the CarerQol-Instrument to Measure the Impact of Informal Care in Long-Term Care', *Aging & mental health* 15(8): 1018.
- 57. Kraijo, H., W. Brouwer, R. de Leeuw, G. Schrijvers and J. Van Exel. The perseverance time of informal carers: introduction and validation of a new measure of burden in caregivers for dementia patients. Utrecht MC, Julius Centre for Health Sciences and Primary Care, Utrecht, the Netherlands.
- 58. van Exel, N.J.A., Scholte op Reimer, Wilma J M., W.B.F. Brouwer, B. van den Berg, M.A. Koopmanschap and van den Bos, Geertrudis A M. (2004) 'Instruments for Assessing the Burden of Informal Caregiving for Stroke Patients in Clinical Practice: A Comparison of CSI, CRA, SCQ and Self-Rated Burden', *Clinical rehabilitation* 18(2): 203-214.
- 59. Al-Janabi, H., E. Frew, W. Brouwer, D. Rappange and J. Van Exel (2010) 'The Inclusion of Positive Aspects of Caring in the Caregiver Strain Index: Tests of Feasibility and Validity', *International journal of nursing studies* 47(8): 984-993.
- 60. van Exel, N.J.A., M.A. Koopmanschap, B. van den Berg, W.B.F. Brouwer and van den Bos, G A M. (2005) 'Burden of Informal Caregiving for Stroke Patients. Identification of Caregivers at Risk of Adverse Health Effects', *Cerebrovascular diseases (Basel, Switzerland)* 19(1): 11.
- 61. Bugge, C., H. Alexander and S. Hagen (1999) 'Stroke Patients' Informal Caregivers. Patient, Caregiver, and Service Factors that Affect Caregiver Strain', *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation* 30(8): 1517-1523.
- 62. Van Exel, N.J., W.J. Scholte op Reimer, W.B. Brouwer, B. Van den Berg, M.A. Koopmanschap and G.A. Van den Bos (2004) 'Instruments for Assessing the Burden of Informal Caregiving for Stroke Patients in Clinical Practice: A Comparison of CSI, CRA, SCQ and Self-Rated Burden', *Clinical rehabilitation* 18(2): 203-214.
- 63. Altman, D.G. (2010) *Practical Statistics for Medical Research: Douglas G. Altman.* S.I: s.n.
- 64. De Vaus, D.A. (2002) *Surveys in Social Research: David De Vaus.* Crows Nest: Allen & Unwin.
- 65. Cohen, J. (1988) *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences: Jacob Cohen.* Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- 66. Hopkins, W. G. (2002). A new view of statistics: Effect magnitudes. http://www.sportsci.org/resource/stats/effectmag.html.
- 67. Thompson, B. (2001) 'Significance, effect sizes, stepwise methods, and other issues: Strong arguments move the field', *The Journal of Experimental Education* 70: 80–93.
- Van Exel, N.J.A., W.B.F. Brouwer, B. van den Berg, M.A. Koopmanschap and van den Bos,G A M. (2004) 'What really Matters: An Inquiry into the Relative Importance of Dimensions of Informal Caregiver Burden', *Clinical rehabilitation* 18(6): 683-693.
- 69. Donders, A.R.T., G.J.M.G. van der Heijden, T. Stijnen and K.G.M. Moons (2006) 'Review: A Gentle Introduction to Imputation of Missing Values', *Journal of clinical epidemiology* 59(10): 1087-1091.
- 70. Dolan, P., T. Peasgood and M. White (2008) 'Do we really know what Makes Us Happy? A Review of the Economic Literature on the Factors Associated with Subjective Well-being', *Journal of Economic Psychology* 29(1): 94-122.
- Roopalekha Jathanna PN, Latha KS and Bhandary PV (2011) 'Burden and Coping in Informal Caregivers of Persons with Dementia: A Cross Sectional Study', Online Journal of Health & Allied Sciences 9(4).
- 72. 'Conceptual Approaches to Studying Family Caregiving for Persons with Severe Mental Illness'(2000) , *Journal of Family Nursing* 6(4): 341-366.